

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2014

The Effectiveness of Computer-Aided Instruction on Math Fact Fluency

Joseph Scott Bochniak *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Elementary and Middle and Secondary Education Administration Commons</u>, and the <u>Elementary Education and Teaching Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

COLLEGE OF EDUCATION

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Joseph Bochniak

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Jennifer Seymour, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Kendra Jiles, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Karen Hunt, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer

Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2014

Abstract

The Effectiveness of Computer-Aided Instruction on Math Fact Fluency

by

Joseph S. Bochniak

MA, Walden University, 2007 BA, Richard Stockton College, 1995 BA, Richard Stockton College, 1993

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2014

Abstract

Sixth grade students at a Mid-Atlantic, urban, PreK-8 public school have shown weak mathematical performance. In accordance with the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act of 2001, the local district has implemented numerous policy changes to improve performance, but no substantial improvements in test scores have been seen so far. This project study focused on the development of automaticity and fluency of math facts to address this problem. The theoretical framework of the study was based on Haring and Eaton's instructional competency hierarchy framework, which claims that students who master basic mathematics skills are better able to progress to more general and abstract skills. A modified, quasi-experimental, nonequivalent control-group design was used with 2 groups of 20 sixth grade students who were neither randomly selected nor assigned to either group. Data analysis using one-way analysis of variance revealed that computer aided instruction—specifically, Fluency and Automaticity through Systematic Teaching and Technology (FASTT) Math—was more effective than the other classroom's mathematics instruction in developing multiplication fluency. In response, a curriculum policy recommendation was drafted as a project and will be presented to the board of education to conduct additional evaluations of FASTT Math as a supplemental tool in third through eighth grades in the district. This project is expected to contribute to social change by improving mathematics achievement which will create a mathematically literate cadre of students to meet the needs of 21st century employers, thus improving the quality of life in the broader community.

The Effectiveness of Computer-Aided Instruction on Math Fact Fluency

by

Joseph S. Bochniak

MA, Walden University, 2007

BA, Richard Stockton College, 1995

BA, Richard Stockton College, 1993

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2014

Dedication

To my wife, Caryl, who is my inspiration and my love. I would not have been able to complete this journey without you.

Acknowledgments

There are many people who have assisted me on this journey through research. First and foremost, my former Committee Chair, Dr. Robert Bernard was always supportive. He continually encouraged me to keep working and would provide plenty "food for thought." A special thank you to Dr. Seymour who became my Committee Chair during the last phase of my journey. An additional thank you to the rest of the committee for their insight and input. I also must acknowledge my school and school district for permitting me to collect data and perform this study.

List of Tables	V
List of Figures	vi
Section 1: The Problem	1
Introduction	1
Definition of the Problem	2
Rationale	4
Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level	4
Socioeconomic status and school funding and teacher quality	6
An Alternative Approach	7
Evidence of the Problem from the Professional Literature	8
Definitions	12
Significance	14
Guiding/Research Question	15
Review of the Literature	16
Theoretical Framework	
Computer Aided Instruction	
CAI Meta-Analysis	
Summary	
Implications	27
Summary	
Section 2: The Methodology	
Introduction	

Table of Contents

Research Design	
Setting and Sample	
Instrumentation and Materials	
Data Collection and Analysis	
Research Question and Hypotheses	
Assumptions, Limitations, Scope, and Delimitations	
Protecting Participants	44
Conclusion	
Section 3: The Project	46
Introduction	46
Description and Goals	46
Rationale	47
Review of the Literature	
Policy	49
Education Policy	
Policy Recommendation	
White Paper	
FASTT Math & Math Fact Fluency	
Recommendations	
Implementation	60
Potential Resources and Existing Supports	
Potential Barriers	66
Proposal for Implementation and Timetable	

Roles and Responsibilities of Student and Others	
Project Evaluation	73
Implications Including Social Change	75
Local Community	75
Far-Reaching	
Conclusion	76
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	78
Introduction	78
Project Strengths	78
Recommendations for Remediation of Limitations	79
Scholarship	80
Project Development and Evaluation	82
Leadership and Change	83
Analysis of Self as Scholar	84
Analysis of Self as Practitioner	84
Analysis of Self as Project Developer	85
The Project's Potential Impact on Social Change	86
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	86
Conclusion	87
References	89
Appendix A: Project	103
Appendix B: Worksheet Works Email	121
Appendix C: Pretests	

Appendix D: Posttest	126
Appendix E: Letter of Cooperation	128
Appendix F: Data Use Agreement	129
Curriculum Vitae	132

List of Tables

Table 1. Test of Homogeneity of Variances	37
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics	39
Table 3. Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics	40
Table 4. One-Way ANOVA	42

List of Figures

Figure 1. NJ ASK sixth grade proficient percentage, 2006-2012:	5
Figure 2. Haring and Eaton's learning hierarchy	17
Figure 3. Research design	
Figure 4. Box plots for 2-minute drill growth scores	
Figure 5. Timetable for additional data collection and analyses	69
Figure 6. Timetable for monitoring FASTT Math implementation	69

Section 1: The Problem

Introduction

Mathematical skills are an essential prerequisite for both school achievement and success in the workplace. Completion of advanced mathematics courses in high school influences college graduation more than any other factor (Adelman & Office of Vocational and Adult Education, 2006). Students who complete mathematics classes beyond Algebra II double their chances of earning a bachelor's degree (Adelman et al., 2006). This is important because nearly two-thirds of the fastest growing jobs in the United States will require a bachelor's degree (Dohm & Shniper, 2007, p. 90). Today, the link between increased education and good jobs is stronger than ever. Over the last 30 years, there has been a marked decline in jobs for high school graduates, whereas the prospect for those possessing postsecondary education and training has increased significantly (Carnevale, Jayasundera, Hanson, & Georgetown University, 2012). These findings clearly indicate that mastering mathematical skills has far-reaching implications for students.

In the last decade, high-stakes testing has been systematically implemented to assess students' skills, often called *achievement* (Au, 2011; Martindale, Pearson, Curda, & Pilcher, 2005). While some scholars have concerns about the increased dependence on high-stakes testing as a means to evaluate schools (Zimmerman & Dibenedetto, 2008), this issue is not a part of this research. High-stakes testing provides the means for government institutions to monitor and evaluate their educational systems (Morris, 2011). The National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) is administered in fourth, eighth, and twelfth grades to measure student performance on a national level. No Child Left Behind (NCLB) requires each state to administer annual standards-based assessments in math and reading to students from third through eighth grades, and at least once in high school (New Jersey Department of Education, 2009). In addition, local districts implement their own practice testing.

Federal expectations have mandated benchmarks in language arts literacy, mathematics, and science at these grade levels. In response to NCLB, the State of New Jersey implemented the New Jersey Assessment of Skills and Knowledge (NJ ASK) program beginning in 2003. By 2006, full implementation of ASK 3-8 and High School Proficiency Assessment (HSPA) provided New Jersey school districts with the means to monitor academic progress over time (New Jersey Department of Education, 2009).

Since 2006, New Jersey school districts have collected summative annual data in order to comply with NCLB legislation (New Jersey Department of Education, 2009). ASK data determines the success or failure of each school and district. NJ ASK data has provided the vehicle to monitor and evaluate student achievement in ways that were not previously available. Schools now have the wherewithal to make decisions about policy and programs based on their state's standardized test data.

Definition of the Problem

In one urban PreK-8 New Jersey public school, NJ ASK historical data documents what school officials know: Students' mathematics skills are weak (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013). From 2006 through 2011, this school had not achieved adequate yearly progress (AYP) and, based on this lack of progress, was classified as a Category I school (i.e., is in need of improvement) (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013). To determine the level of a school's academic achievement, NCLB created a six-category system, with 1 being the lowest category and 6 the highest. Category One schools "did not achieve AYP and have an achievement gap of more than 25% below the acceptable benchmark for attaining the state standards in either language arts literacy or mathematics" (New Jersey Department of Education, 2010a, para. 1). Lack of progress has been a constant concern of teachers and administrators in this school since NCLB data began being collected in 2006. Furthermore, the school was placed in "year 4 – corrective action" within the NCLB's Title 1 monitoring program in 2011 (L, Hyman, personal communication, March 15, 2011).

During the 2011-2012 school year, the U.S. Department of Education allowed states flexibility about the specific requirements of NCLB in exchange for "rigorous and comprehensive state-developed plans designed to improve educational outcomes for all students, close achievement gaps, increase equity, and improve the quality of instruction" (U.S. Department of Education, 2011, para. 3). The reason cited for this flexibility was the barriers unintentionally created by NCLB that hindered raising student achievement (U.S. Department of Education, 2011). New Jersey was one of the first states to be granted a waiver from some of the requirements of NCLB. In exchange, New Jersey developed a new school accountability system. This system identified the lowest 5% and highest 5% of academically achieving schools, as well as those schools with the largest in-school achievement gaps based on the performance of subgroup populations (New Jersey Department of Education, 2012c). Based on this new accountability system, the school under study does not meet any of the aforementioned criteria as one of the targeted schools, which would remove its label as a school in need of improvement.

However, New Jersey's flexible NCLB waiver included the development of yearly progress targets using 2011 ASK scores as a baseline. Schools are expected to make yearly progress in order to reach the goal of halving the distance between their baseline and 100% proficiency by 2017 (New Jersey Department of Education, 2014). Continual progress will be necessary to ensure that the school under study does not return to failing status.

In accordance with NCLB, the local school district has attempted to address this lack of achievement by implementing numerous changes. In an attempt to improve mathematics test scores, the district aligned the curricula with state and Common Core standards; it implemented curriculum benchmarks and established new math coaching positions (math instructors who assist classroom teachers with implementing mathematics curriculum and instructional practices). Furthermore, teachers whose students had the lowest student test scores were replaced. Despite these initiatives, substantial improvements in test scores did not materialize at the sixth grade level. Therefore, an alternative approach to improve student achievement was warranted during the 2013-2014 academic year.

Rationale

Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level

According to the New Jersey report card, 78.8% of sixth grade students across the state scored either *proficient* or *advanced proficient* in 2012 (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013). Students are placed into one of three categories based on their NJ ASK scores: *partition proficient* (failing, scoring under 200), *proficient* (passing, scoring 200-249), or *advanced proficient* (passing, scoring 250-300). The New Jersey Report Card is

an annual public report mandated by New Jersey statute 18A:7E 1-5 that provides pertinent information on school success (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013). At the local district level, the proficient percentage was 66.7, approximately 12 % below the state's average performance. At the level of the school under study, only 53.1 % of sixth grade students performed at *proficient* or *advanced proficient* levels. Figure 1 shows the consistently poor performance of sixth grade students from 2008 through 2012. During this period, less than 60 % of them performed at the *proficient* or *advanced proficient* evel.



Figure 1. NJ ASK sixth grade proficient percentages, 2008-2012. This figure presents a comparison of the percentage of students classified as *proficient/advanced proficient* from 2008 through 2012. Students who meet the minimum competency requirement are classified as *proficient* (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013).

In addition to NJ ASK data, the local district developed four benchmarks to monitor student progress in mathematics. The quarterly benchmarks corresponded to the first four of New Jersey's core content standards in mathematics: Number and Numerical Operations, Geometry and Measurement, Patterns and Algebra, and Data Analysis & Probability (New Jersey Department of Education, 2010b). The first benchmark's data, from 2013, indicated that over half of the sixth grade students lacked competency in subject matter—consisting of number sense, numerical operations and estimation—as measured by the school's developed measurement tool. When comparing the pretest/posttest benchmark data, student achievement in sixth grade increased approximately 7.5% overall. Although not piloted for reliability or validity, the benchmark proved effective to demonstrate the need for an appropriate intervention. *Socioeconomic status and school funding and teacher quality*

Research during the later half of the 20th century has shown a strong correlation between socioeconomic status (SES) and student achievement (New Jersey Department of Education, 2010c). In an attempt to group like schools together for a more accurate and fair comparison, New Jersey developed a system, called District Factor Grouping (DFG), to rank its school districts by SES. DFG classifies each school district on a scale from A-J, with A being the lowest and J the highest on the SES ladder. The higher a school district is on the ladder the higher the SES of the community. Status is determined by using data from several indicators obtained from decennial census data (New Jersey Department of Education, 2010c, para. 4). These indices include "percent of population with no high school diploma, percent with some college, occupation, population density, income, unemployment, and poverty" (New Jersey Department of Education, 2010c). Based on the contributing data, the district under study had a DFG of an A. The percent of sixth grade students in DFG A who scored proficient or advanced proficient was 57.9. When compared to similar districts, the school still lagged behind in achievement, with only 53.1 % of sixth grade students scoring proficient or advanced proficient. Even if low SES has an effect on student achievement, it does not fully explain the gap in student achievement.

It is possible that this gap was due to funding. Financial data suggested that school funding is not a direct factor in poor performance. In 2012, the local district budget spent approximately 35% more per pupil than the state average. For comparison with DFG *A* districts, the local district budget was 20 % larger. Therefore, other factors must be investigated to determine an appropriate course of action.

It is also possible that this gap was due to the lack of high-quality teachers. It is well established that teacher quality affects student outcomes (Goe, Biggers, & Croft, 2012). By providing students with high-quality teachers who implement best practices, higher achievement is obtainable. NCLB mandated that all core academic subject teachers become "highly qualified" during the 2005-2006 school year (U.S. Department of Education, 2006, para. 6). In August 2006, the U.S. Department of Education issued a report stating that New Jersey had an "acceptable plan" (U.S. Department of Education, 2006, para. 11) in place to ensure highly qualified teachers would be instructing students. In order to be deemed highly qualified, a teacher must have a bachelor's degree, full state certification or licensure, and prove they know the subject. According to a report by the U.S. Department of Education (2006), 100% of the core academic teachers at the school under study highly qualified. Therefore, despite increasing the quality of teaching staff, student academic achievement still lags.

An Alternative Approach

If the explanation is not SES, school funding, or high quality of teachers, then investigating an alternative approach to teaching may provide some answers. Sutton and Krueger (2002) may have an explanation. "Despite significant changes throughout society over the last half century, teaching methods in most mathematics classes have remained virtually unchanged" (Sutton & Krueger, 2002, p. 26). One possible approach was the use of computer-aided instruction (CAI). CAI refers to supplementing or replacing traditional instruction with a software-based program or application. This approach is discussed in the CAI section of the literature review.

Evidence of the Problem from the Professional Literature

Less than adequate mathematics achievement is a problem throughout the United States (Department of Education, 2008). Slavin and Lake (2008) noted that the mathematics scores of fourth and eighth graders steadily improved from 1990 through 2005, but more gains in mathematics achievement are necessary if the United States wants to be competitive globally (R. E. Slavin & Lake, 2008, p. 427). The results from the 2011 Nation's Report Card indicated that only 40% of fourth graders and 35% of eighth graders performed at or above the *proficient* level in mathematics (National Center for Education Statistics, 2011). The National Mathematics Advisory Panel (NMAP) found it "particularly disturbing" that American students are performing at mediocre levels in mathematics compared to their peers internationally (U.S. Department of Education, 2008, p. xii). Furthermore, Juvenon, Le, Kaganoff, Augustine, and Constant (2004) stated that, according to their findings, "U.S. children do not start out behind those of other nations in mathematics and science achievement, but they do lag by the end of the middle school years" (Juvonen et al. , 2004, p. 31).

It is well documented that mathematics achievement in the United States has trailed many of the top-performing countries. According to the report from PISA—the Program for International Student Assessment that administers tests in key subjects to a sample of 15-year-old students in participating countries—the United States ranked well below average (25th) in mathematics (Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2010). U.S. students appear to be "running in place" (U.S. Department of Education, 2008, p. 9) when compared to other nations. Similarly, U.S. students are also underperforming on state assessments. For example, many New Jersey students are not proficient on the mathematics portion of the NJ ASK. At the local level, a majority of students do not meet AYP in mathematics throughout the middle school grades (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013).

According to the National Mathematics Advisory Panel (2008), students in the United States have a poor understanding of core arithmetical concepts and lack fluency in complex algorithms, which impedes learning higher-level mathematics, such as algebra. In addition, many U.S. students who lack fluency with single-digit addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division of whole numbers may never gain proficiency (NMAP, 2008).

This is disturbing given that in order for students to become successful in mathematics, they must become proficient in factual, procedural, and conceptual knowledge (U.S. Department of Education, 2008). Factual knowledge, also referred to as declarative knowledge, refers to the ability to recall a small set of mathematical facts from long-term memory (i.e. addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division). Procedural knowledge refers to the steps or rules that must be followed to solve a particular problem (e.g., standard algorithms). Lastly, conceptual knowledge refers to understanding meaning, that is, answering the why question in mathematics. The National Mathematics Advisory Panel argued that "these capabilities are mutually supportive, each facilitating learning of the others" (U.S. Department of Education, 2008, p. 26). If students do not possess the basic foundations of mathematics their ability to perform at the higher levels will be negatively impacted.

In 2009, state leaders launched the Common Core State Standards (CCSS) to ensure that all students graduating high school were adequately prepared for college and career. These standards were informed by the best standards already in existence, experience of educational leaders, and feedback from the public. (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices (NGA Center) and the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO), 2010) Based on these standards for mathematics, by the end of fifth grade, students should have a "solid foundation in whole numbers, addition, subtraction, multiplication, division, fractions and decimals – which help young students build the foundation to successfully apply more demanding math concepts and procedures, and move into applications" (NGA Center & CCSSO, 2010, para. 1). Yet, many students in sixth grade have not achieved factual knowledge. Loveless (2003) found that although students have made progress in mathematics on the NAEP, progress in basic arithmetic has "ground to a halt"(p. 41), indicating a deficiency in either procedural or factual knowledge.

When students posses a foundation in basic math facts, they spend less time working on rudimentary mathematics and more time on higher level thinking. When students gain fluency with their math facts to the point where these facts become automatic, automaticity occurs. Crawford (2003) defined automaticity with math facts as the ability to answer instantly, without having to stop and think about a response (e.g., 5 x 6 = 30). Without such ability, students must compute their response using a variety of counting strategies, likely causing a "high cognitive load as they perform a range of complex tasks" (Woodward, 2006, p. 241). Cummings and Elkins (1999) found that when mathematical errors occurred, they were often due to "errors in calculating" math facts rather than lack of procedural knowledge, thus indicating a lack of factual knowledge (p. 171). Furthermore, "information-processing theory supports the view that gaining automaticity in math facts is fundamental to success in many areas of mathematics" (Woodward, 2006, p. 269). This theory supports the belief that working memory, also referred to as short-term memory, is limited and can perform only a few tasks at one time. Gagné (1983) stated that this limited working memory is where "problem solving occurs" (p. 15). He continued, "The scarce cognitive resource of attention needs to be devoted to the most intricate and complex part of the task" (p. 15). Thus making an argument for the importance of automaticity of math facts.

"A student who is automatic with basic facts will complete problems at a faster rate and therefore is likely to have more opportunities to respond (i.e., practice trials), which can enhance accuracy, fluency, and maintenance" (Poncy, Skinner, & Jaspers, 2007, p. 27). While automaticity pertains to the speed of a skills performance with minimal thinking, fluency pertains to the speed and accuracy of performing a particular skill. For example, to be fluent in multiplying multidigit numbers, one has to know automatically the fact that 7 x 8 = 56. As students learn a new skill, they will become increasingly fluent until automaticity is achieved (Axtell, McCallum, Mee Bell, & Poncy, 2009). Students who attain a level of fluency may possess less math anxiety and therefore be more likely to complete assigned tasks (Poncy, Skinner, & Axtell, 2010). Furthermore, increasing students' accuracy and speed of basic math facts is crucial for developing and mastering more advanced math skills (Poncy, Skinner, & Jaspers, 2007). With the lack of mathematical achievement in the local school, an appropriate intervention is warranted. In order to reduce the number of underperforming students in mathematics, the Institute of Education Science (IES) produced a practice guide containing evidence-based recommendations of best practices. IES provided 10 recommendations to increase achievement (Gersten et al., 2009, p. 6). Recommendation 6 stated that interventions should devote about 10 minutes in each session to building "fluent retrieval of basic math facts" (Gersten et al., 2009, p. 6) This recommendation is intended to lay the framework for content and daily time consumption.

Numerous studies have demonstrated successful ways to increase math fact fluency (Aleven, Kay, Arroyo, Royer, & Woolf, 2011; Axtell et al., 2009; Baroody, Bajwa, & Eiland, 2009; Crawford, 2003; Poncy et al., 2007; Poncy et al., 2010; Smith, Marchand-Martella, & Martella, 2011; Wong & Evans, 2007; Woodward, 2006). The focus of this study was to determine the effectiveness of computer-aided instruction (CAI) as a means to increase student fluency in basic math facts as compared with traditional instruction.

Definitions

Adequate yearly progress (AYP) is the year-to-year measure used by states to determine if a school, school district, and state are reaching academic standards measured by state assessments in order to comply with the national No Child Left Behind Act (U.S. Department of Education, 2001).

Automaticity refers to the ability to recall facts quickly and with little effort (Poncy et al., 2007).

Computer-aided instruction (CAI) refers to supplementing or replacing traditional instruction with software-based programs (Hyland, Pinto-Zipp, Olson, & Lichtman, 2010).

Conceptual knowledge refers to knowledge of the concepts of a domain and their interrelations (Schneider et al., 2011, p. 1525). For example, understanding that the equal sign represents equality.

Factual knowledge in mathematics refers to "having ready in memory the answer to a relatively small set of problems of addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division" (Willingham, 2010, p. 15). The answer must be well known or memorized where that calculation is not required. For example, $3 \ge 4 = 12$. The product was a known response rather than requiring the use of counting such as 3 plus 3 plus 3 plus 3 equals 12.

FASTT Math – refers to the computerized math facts fluency program -Fluency and Automaticity through Systematic Teaching and Technology (Scholastic, 2014). Based on two decades of research conducted by Dr. Ted Hasselbring, Co-Director of the Learning Technology Center at Vanderbilt University (PR Newswire, 2012).

Fluency refers to fast and accurate response to a particular mathematical question (Haring & Eaton, 1978).

New Jersey Assessment Skills and Knowledge (NJ ASK) is "a criterion-referenced competency test that assesses student knowledge of New Jersey core content standards" (New Jersey Department of Education, 2009). The areas of focus are language arts literacy, mathematics, and science. Scoring classifications of students include *partially proficient* (scores below 200), *proficient* (200-249) and *advanced proficient* (250 – 300) (New Jersey Department of Education, 2012a). Extensive efforts are made to ensure the

validity and reliability of this measurement tool (New Jersey Department of Education, 2012b).

New Jersey Report Card is an annual public report mandated by New Jersey statute 18A:7E 1-5 that provides pertinent information regarding school success (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013). The areas discussed within this report include school environment, student information, student testing performance indicators, other performance indicators (e.g., attendance), staff information, and district financial data (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013, sec. Report Card Fields).

Paper pencil instructions (PPI) – refers to paper pencil instruction as opposed to computer-aided instruction (Wong & Evans, 2007).

Procedural knowledge refers to the ability to "execute action sequences to solve problems" (Schneider, Rittle-Johnson, & Star, 2011, p. 1525). For example, the use of counting in the problem 3 x 4 = 12, whereas the answer is not known but can be figured out by following a set of rules or procedures.

Significance

Primarily, this study is significant because it added to the literature pertaining to CAI instruction and math fact fluency. As discussed in the literature review, few studies have been conducted in this area of study over the last decade. In addition, this study was conducted due to a need for student academic improvement in mathematics. According to school district data, there appears to have been no significant improvement in mathematics performance over the last 5 years (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013). Based on school data from 2012, almost 50% of middle school students scored "*partially proficient*," the lowest classification available to label student performance

(New Jersey Department of Education, 2012a). If students are to improve mathematics test scores, a new mathematics instructional approach is necessary. This study was designed to reveal whether FASTT Math can be used to improve student performance over traditional mathematics instruction. The results of this study should prompt discussion with regards to CAI and math instruction, and may provide guidance for future studies and possibly produce a curriculum policy change in mathematics.

Guiding/Research Question

This study was designed to determine if CAI is an effective method to develop math fact fluency as compared to traditional instruction among sixth-grade students. According to the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM), the student's ability to proceed to algebra will be determined by mastering the most critical mathematics skills and concepts that are introduced in sixth grade (National Council of Teachers of Mathematics Commission on Standards for School Mathematics, 2008). In other words, sixth grade is an important transitional period, when students move from focusing on factual and procedural knowledge to more conceptual knowledge.

If developing automaticity and fluency is crucial for developing and mastering more advanced math skills, then it would be paramount to determine the most effective way for students to become fluent in math facts. In the school under study and district, numerous strategies are used to address this need. These include paper-and-pencil exercises, flashcards, copy-and-cover techniques, and CAI. While many instructional techniques can be implemented to increase math fact fluency, few studies have tried to learn whether CAI was more or less effective than other approaches. Thus, this study sought to answer the following research question: Is there a significant difference in math fact fluency among those sixth-grade students who receive didactic mathematics instruction and those sixth-grade students who receive FASTT Math software instruction, as measured by a 2-minute drill performance instrument?

Review of the Literature

This literature review includes an examination and summary of the current literature on computer-aided-instruction and its effectiveness when used to improve math fact fluency. The literature reviewed for this study was collected using a variety of databases and educational publications. The following databases were used: ERIC, Education Research Complete, Education from SAGE, Education Research Starters, and ProQuest Central. The following search terms were used: *automaticity, computer-aided instruction, computer assisted instruction, CAI, computer based instruction, CBI, computer instruction, conceptual knowledge drills, drill and practice, factual knowledge, FASTT Math, math facts, math fact fluency,* and *procedural knowledge.*

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this research must link changes in the curriculum to changes in the performance of the learner. Thus, the theoretical framework for this research is one of necessity: taking a single module of instruction and testing for changes in students' performance. It was the aim of this effort to improve mathematics abilities, as the previous efforts in the subject school over the previous past 5 years have failed to produce a significant positive change in performance as measured by the NJ ASK.

Haring and Eaton (1978) developed an instructional learning hierarchy that provides systematic guidelines for selecting instructional procedures. Influenced by the works of Piaget (1950), Bloom (1971), and Gagne (1970), this theory suggests that students move through stages of development as they learn (Haring & Eaton, 1978). Applied to mathematics instruction, this model predicts that those students who master basic mathematics skills are better able to progress to more general and abstract skills (Axtell et al., 2009). Based on this theory, in order to become proficient in complex skills, students must first master basic mathematical skills.

Haring and Eaton's hierarchy has four distinct phases in which skills begin slow and inaccurate, then accuracy increases but task completing remains slow. Once speed and accuracy are maintained, learning can be applied to responding to new stimuli and to solving problems (Burns, Codding, Boice, & Lukito, 2010). Theses four levels of performance include acquisition, fluency building (proficiency), generalization, and application or adaption (Haring & Eaton, 1978).



Figure 2. Flowchart depicting the four phases of Haring and Eaton's Learning Hierarchy (1978).

Acquisition is the first step in learning a new skill. "Demonstration of initial performance is but the first of a series of learning stages" (Haring & Eaton, 1978, p. 25).

Teaching accuracy is the focus at this phase. According to Burns et al., students require modeling, guided practice, and frequent feedback in order to obtain acquisition and accuracy (2010). Since developing the ability to respond accurately is the first step to mastery, procedures developed and implemented at this stage can affect subsequent stages of development. Once acquisition is obtained, students can progress to developing fluency.

Fluency is developed when student responses become quick, accurate, and automatic (Haring & Eaton, 1978). During this phase, "students can accurately complete a skill but need additional practice to become more proficient" (Burns et al., 2010, p. 71). Instructional strategies at this level may include incremental rehearsal of math facts, use of manipulative, and modeling using cover, copy, compare and other practice approaches based on the principle of "learning by doing" (Haring & Eaton, 1978, p. 27).

At the generalization stage, students should be able to apply basic mathematics operations to a variety of situations. Building on the first two stages, at this point students should possess a mastery of basic mathematics facts and mathematical operations. Haring and Eaton (1978) suggest that tasks must move beyond drill of basic facts and to practice skills in a variety of scenarios, varying in duration and intensity.

Adaptation (or application) is the final stage of this instructional hierarchy. Adaption occurs when skills are "usable in modified form in response to new problems or in new situation" (Haring & Eaton, 1978, p. 31). Optimal development will occur when practice is provided repeatedly using a variety of different situations. At these higher stages, programs may include "discrimination and differentiation training, problem solving and simulations" (Haring & Eaton, 1978, p. 34). When this framework is applied to mathematics, Haring and Eaton suggest that students who acquire and maintain basic math facts are better suited to progress to more conceptual abstract skills, such as word problems and problem solving (Axtell et al., 2009). In order to become proficient in these higher order-thinking tasks, students must first become fluent in basic math facts. This study will determine if FASTT Math is more effective than traditional instruction in reinforcing the acquisition and maintenance of automatic recall of basic math facts.

Computer Aided Instruction

A premier authority on teaching math in the United States, The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM) wrote that "Technology is an essential tool for learning mathematics in the 21st century, and all schools must ensure that all their students have access to technology" (National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, 2008, p. 1). That premise is the foundation of this research effort. Born out of the works of Skinner in the 1960s with his teaching machines, educators have long attempted to develop ways for technology to deliver effective individualized instruction. In years past that may have meant using a machine and punch cards, while today one might use an Internet-based application; but the goal remains the same. Cates supported CAI as an effective and efficient teaching method stating: "computer-assisted instruction emphasizes the importance of the completion of numerous antecedent-behavior-consequence learning trials" (Cates, 2005, p. 638). The purpose of this review of literature is to determine the level of effectiveness of CAI, as a model of instruction, as it pertains to sixth-grade mathematics.

The National Mathematics Advisory Panel found "instructional software has

19

generally shown positive effects on students' achievement in mathematics as compared with instruction that does not incorporate such technologies" (Department of Education, 2008, p. 50). The panel recommended that high-quality CAI drill and practice should be implemented with fidelity and was a useful tool for developing automaticity.

CAI Meta-Analysis

Numerous meta analysis studies have been conducted to assess the effectiveness of CAI. Below is a general overview of CAI as stated by (Robert E. Slavin & Lake, 2007, p. 17):

A longstanding approach to improving the mathematics performance of elementary students is computer-assisted instruction, or CAI. Over the years, CAI strategies have evolved from limited drill-and-practice programs to sophisticated integrated learning systems (ILS), which combine computerized placement and instruction. Typically, CAI materials have been used as supplements to classroom instruction, and are often used only a few times a week. Some of the studies of CAI in math have involved only 30 minutes per week. What CAI primarily adds is the ability to identify children's strengths and weaknesses and then give them self-instructional exercises designed to fill in gaps. In a hierarchical subject like mathematics, especially computations, this may be of particular importance.

Slavin and Lake (2007) evaluated the effectiveness of 38 CAI studies, with 15 of those randomized experimental or randomized quasi-experimental designs. Generally speaking, most of the studies produced positive effects, especially on the measures of mathematics computation. Slavin and Lake (2007) found that those studies that reported their results by subscale usually produced stronger outcomes for the area of computation. Across all studies where an effect size could be determined, the effects were considered meaningful. The average effect size based on the 38 available studies was +0.19.

In a later study, Slavin et al (Slavin, Lake, & Groff, 2009) found similar results when evaluating the effectiveness of CAI in middle and high school mathematics. At the middle and high school level, CAI can be divided into three categories: supplemental, core, and computer-managed systems. Supplemental CAI programs, like those primarily used in elementary classrooms, are used to fill in the gaps. These programs are usually implemented ranging from 30–90 minutes per week. Core CAI programs, generally are considered teacher replacements, provide core instruction, opportunities for practice, assessment, and prescription to meet the learner's needs. The third approach, computer-managed systems, uses the computer to assess students, provide assignments, and give feedback to the teacher on student progress.

Thirty-eight qualifying studies were evaluated within this meta-analysis. While the 2009 study found CAI to produce positive effects on student learning, the median effect size was considerably smaller than that found by Slavin and Lake in the 2007 study. The median effect size was +0.10 as compared to +0.19 at the elementary level. When each category of CAI was evaluated separately, a possible explanation becomes apparent. The effect size of core CAI was +0.09 in 17 studies, supplemental CAI was +0.19 in 18 studies, and computer-managed learning systems was -0.02 in 3 studies. The results of the effect sizes indicate that the use of supplemental CAI was the most effective from elementary through high school.

In a more recent meta-analysis, (Cheung & Slavin, 2011) evaluated a total of 74

qualifying studies with a total sample size of 56,886 K-12 students. Once again, the studies indicated that CAI had a positive, but small effect (+0.16) on mathematics achievement. While elementary studies had a larger effect rate (+0.17) than secondary studies (+0.14), the findings were not statistically different.

Li and Ma (2010) found, in a meta analysis of 46 primary studies involving 36,793 learners, that the use of computer instruction had "overall positive effects" on mathematics achievement (p. 232). On average, there was a moderate but significantly positive effect on mathematics achievement +0.71. The findings suggest that CAI was more effective when used with special needs students and when a constructivist approach to teaching was practiced. In addition, Li and Ma supports Slavin et al., 2007, 2009, 2011 assertion that CAI is more effective in elementary mathematic classrooms. Liao, Chang, and Chen (2007), came to the same conclusion, based on a meta-analysis conducted in Taiwan involving over 5000 participants, stating that CAI has a moderate positive effect on elementary students.

Kroesbergen & Van Luit (2003) conducted a meta-analysis to determine the effectiveness of mathematics intervention with special-needs students. Within this metaanalysis, 12 studies addressed the use of CAI. The findings indicated that CAI was useful to increase student motivation under certain conditions. "However, the computer cannot remediate the basic difficulties that the children encounter. The results of the present study show that in general, traditional interventions with humans as teachers, and not computers, are most effective" (Kroesbergen & Van Luit, 2003, p. 112). These findings contradict those found by Li and Ma (2010), although it is important to note that their focus was only on special education students. Based on the findings of the meta-analysis studies, implementation for developing basic math facts would most likely produce a positive effect on student achievement. One caveat that needs to be mentioned is regardless of when the meta-analysis was published, most of the studies were conducted during the 1980s and 1990s. Searches of various databases have turned up few recent studies focusing on CAI and math fact acquisition and fluency. In the paragraphs below, I will discuss the most recent individual studies that focused on implementing CAI to improve basic math fact achievement.

Tienken and Wilson (2007) investigated the effectiveness of drill and practice CAI that focused on a variety of skills including computation, and combined active learning follow-up exercises on a sample of seventh grade students. The researchers randomly assigned four teachers to experimental (n = 2) and control (n = 2) groups with the total students (n = 267) split between the experimental group of 126 students and the control group with 141 students. A quasi-experimental design was implemented because the students comprised intact groups.

Tienken and Wilson's findings were analyzed using a two-way ANCOVA, controlling for pretest differences and socio-economic status (SES). The CTB/McGraw Hill TerraNova instrument was used to generate the data for analysis, and the findings suggested a positive, although slight, effect size (+ 0.12) on achievement.

The following year, Tienken & Maher (2008) conducted a similar study with eighth grade students. All of the elements of this study mirrored the study from the previous year. In a stark reversal from the previous study, the findings suggest that CAI did not have a positive influence on student achievement. In fact, the control group produced an effect size (+ 0.36).
Wong and Evans (2007) investigated the effectiveness of paper pencil instruction (PPI) and/or CAI as strategies to increase multiplication fact recall in fifth grade students. For the CAI treatment (n = 37), students used the program, "Back to Basics Multiplication" for 15 minutes per session, totaling 11 sessions. Students receiving CAI treatment were given instant feedback as to whether responses were correct or incorrect. The PPI treatment (n = 27), students completed teacher-generated worksheets containing 80 problems during each 15 minute session, also totaling 11 sessions. After each session, worksheets were graded for accuracy and returned to the students before the next session.

The results of one-minute pretest/posttest and maintenance drills were used to measure recall of basic math multiplication facts. The researchers compared the number of correct responses from each drill. The results suggest that systematic practice of multiplication facts was an effective method for improving multiplication fluency. Meaning, both interventions proved successful to increase multiplication recall, although PPI was more effective than CAI. While PPI was shown to be more effective, the researchers cautioned that the pretest/posttest were written in the same format as the PPI worksheets that may have affected performance levels.

Graham, Bellert, Thomas, and Pegg (2007) investigated the effectiveness of the CAI program QuickSmart, "a responsive small group intervention that aims to develop fluent (Quick) and efficient (Smart) strategy use" (L. Graham et al., 2007, p. 410). The researchers wanted to determine if QuickSmart improved fluency, and if so, influenced development of complex skills, such as problem solving, as reflected on students' performance on standardized achievement tests.

Three schools and forty-two students were involved in the mathematics portion of

the study. Participants were selected for treatment based on their statewide school results. Instead of a control group, the researchers used a comparison group of five highachieving students and five average-achieving students, totaling ten students. Interventions lasted approximately three 30 minutes lessons a week for 26 weeks.

Data was collected based on the pretest/posttest consisting of the standardized Progressive Achievement Tests (PAT) to measure comprehension and the Cognitive Aptitude Assessment (CAAS) to measure speed. The findings indicated that the gap between lower achieving students and their average/high student counterparts was narrowed significantly. Fluency was increased from an average of 3.5 to 2.2 seconds. In addition, accuracy increased from an average of 76% to 89% for correct multiplication facts at the end of the study. The results suggest that when CAI emphasizes practice and structure, improved student achievement is possible. Kopcha and Sullivan (2008) found that low-level learners performed at a higher level when they were provided with a highly structured program-controlled intervention.

Cates (2005) compared the use of peer tutoring and CAI to determine which strategy was the most effective intervention to promote fluency of math addition facts. CAI was implemented in three-minute segments where students interacted with digital flashcards. All responses would result with a "ding", but the flashcard would remain until a correct answer was provided. Afterwards, the student recorded the number of correct responses. Similarly, the peer tutor group would respond to flashcards for three minutes. Rather than hearing a ding, correct responses would receive verbal praise, while incorrect responses would be ignored. When the correct response was provided, the tutor would change the flashcard until the time was exhausted. This study consisted of four participants split into an older (ages 10-11) and a younger (age 8) group. Each participant was exposed to both types of treatments. Using a BCBC research design, where "B" represented peer tutoring and "C" represented CAI, the researcher found that the older students demonstrated higher levels of accuracy using the CAI, while the younger students demonstrated higher accuracy using the tutor intervention. The findings supported other research citing CAI an effective instructional strategy. In addition, it suggested that a student's current stage of learning may be important when selecting an appropriate strategy or intervention (Cates, 2005). While other studies evaluating the effectiveness of CAI were available (Barrow, Markman, Rouse, & Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, 2007; Campuzano, Dynarski, Agodini, Rall, & Institute of Education Sciences (ED), 2009; Gatti & Petrochenkov, 2010; Resendez & Strobel, 2009; Wijekumar et al., 2009), the focus of those investigations did not pertain to math fact acquisition, fluency, or basic computation.

Summary

The current literature on the effectiveness of CAI to improve mathematics achievement is mixed. Most of the studies found that CAI had a positive effect on student learning (L. Graham et al., 2007; Tienken & Wilson, 2007), although CAI proved less effective than other interventions (Cates, 2005; Wong & Evans, 2007), while in others it resulted in no improvement at all (Tienken & Maher, 2008). Based on the size of these studies it is difficult to generalize the finding to other educational settings, although the study designs may inform other research that may support their findings. Based on the findings of the meta-analysis studies, CAI has been found to show a positive effect on student mathematical achievement. The results have shown that CAI proves to be most effective when it incorporates drill and practice, and when it is used at the elementary level.

Implications

This topic and grade level was selected because of the high degree of attention our school received over the last 5 years pertaining to mathematics performance among our sixth grade students by the New Jersey Department of Education. As discussed in the literature review, sixth grade is an important transition period in mathematical instruction, where the focus of learning begins to shift to higher-level conceptual skills. If students do not have a solid foundation of their math facts by this time, their future mathematical achievement may be negatively impacted. Use of CAI for improving math fact fluency is supported by literature and is a component of the researched district's mathematics curriculum. FASTT Math is one of the software applications that the district purchased to be used as a supplement to increase student achievement in mathematics for third through eighth grades. Teachers have been free to use this program as they deem appropriate. Based on usage reports, FASTT Math has been used inconsistently throughout the district. It has primarily been implemented in the intermediate grades, and usage at the middle school level is almost nonexistent. This study provides data obtained through the analysis of 2-minute drill pretest/posttest scores to determine if consistent use of FASTT Math at the sixth grade level produced increased achievement in math fact fluency. If in fact FASTT Math produces increased math fact fluency, district benchmark data can be analyzed to determine if increased math fact fluency had an impact on student benchmark performance. Furthermore, if this research indicates a positive change in student mathematics, then as a possible project, a policy recommendation in the form of a

white paper recommending a school wide module could be designed and implemented to change the stagnant mathematics performance as measured by the NJ ASK.

Summary

One urban PreK-8 New Jersey public school has shown weak mathematical performance at the sixth grade level. In accordance with NCLB, the local school district has attempted to address this lack of achievement by implementing numerous changes. Despite these initiatives, no substantial improvements in test scores have materialized at the sixth grade level.

If students do not possess the basic foundations of mathematics, how will they be able to perform at the higher levels? Based on the Common Core state standards for mathematics, by the end of fifth grade, students should have a solid foundation in math facts and be able to apply them to more demanding math concepts. Yet, many students in sixth grade have not achieved mastery of math factual knowledge. With sixth grade being an important transitional period moving to more advanced conceptual mathematics, it is vital that fluency is mastered before moving to seventh grade.

Some literature suggests that implementation of CAI has a positive effect on student math fact fluency, when compared to traditional instruction, while other studies did not show this effect. Most of the studies found that CAI was most effective when used at the elementary level and outcomes are usually stronger for computation than for concepts or problem solving.

This study focused on the development of automaticity and fluency of math facts. When the ability to respond automatically is obtained, cognitive resources can be applied to more complex tasks (Axtell et al., 2009). This study revealed whether CAI— specifically, FASTT Math—was more effective than traditional teaching of mathematics to increase student math fact fluency. This study compared the results of 2-minute drills to determine which school-approved approach is more effective. Given the need to increase student fluency in basic math facts, determining which strategy works best is imperative. The findings from this study provided the basis for the development of a white paper discussing the implementation of FASTT Math, as well as an invitation for more discussion about the use of CAI in the classroom.

The following section will describe the research design and methodology used to evaluate the effectiveness of FASTT Math software application as an instructional supplement implemented in a sixth grade mathematics class.

Section 2: The Methodology

Introduction

This study was designed to determine if CAI is an effective method to develop math fact fluency as compared to traditional instruction. The CAI used for this study was FASTT Math, a district purchased program that is part of the mathematics curriculum at the school under study. The study was carried out at the sixth grade level.

This section includes the research design, setting and sample, instruments, data collection process, procedures, and data analysis.

Research Design

To determine if FASTT Math had a positive impact on math fact fluency at the sixth grade level in the study school, research was necessary. To address the problem, I chose a group comparison that would analyze trends or the relationships among the variables. According to Creswell (2012), when researching a problem to explain relationships among variables, a quantitative approach is best. A modified, quasi-experimental, nonequivalent, control-group design was used since participants were not randomly selected nor assigned to the treatment or control group (Gall et al., 2010). Random assignment was not feasible nor ethical because classes were already formed. The quasi-experimental design was used to minimize the disruption in student learning. Figure 3 describes the pretest/posttest quasi-experimental research design whereas O₁ and O₂ represent the experimental group, O₃ and O₄ represent the control group, and X represents the FASTT Math treatment. According to Creswell (2012), quasi-experimental design is frequently used in educational research.

	Pretest Knowledge	Treatment	Posttest Knowledge	
Experimental				
Group	O_1	Х	O_2	
Control				
Group	O3		O_4	

Figure 3. Modified quasi-experimental nonequivalent control-group pretest-posttest design, where: O_1, O_3 = the observation of mathematics achievement pretest, O_2, O_4 = the observation of mathematics achievement posttest. X= FASTT Math.

This study focused on the development of math fact fluency in two groups, an experimental and a control group. During a 3-week period, both groups used the last 10 minutes of a daily 90-minute mathematics class for developing math fact fluency. The experimental group received computer-aided instruction through the use of FASTT Math, while the control group received traditional instruction, consisting of flashcards, paper-and-pencil and oral practice. At the conclusion of the study, the control group received FASTT Math treatment for the same period of time as the experimental group.

The CAI consisted of the use of FASTT Math (Tom Snyder Productions, 2005), developed by Dr. Hasselbring. FASTT Math offers 44 levels of skill testing in multiplication. In this study, students completed a diagnostic test to identify their current level of multiplication skill; lessons were delivered based on that initial diagnostic result. Each CAI practice session provided immediate feedback: It showed their errors and offered additional practice. When students mastered their current level, the program automatically advanced them to the next level. Students received rewards, such as certificates and name placement on FASTT Math leader boards when they exceed prior results. The CAI software also provided reports on student progress.

Setting and Sample

Participants composed of students from a New Jersey PreK-8 elementary school with a total enrollment of approximately 600 students evenly distributed throughout each grade at the time of the study. The student population was classified as economically disadvantaged, as 93% of the students received free or reduced lunch. The ethnic background of the school consisted of 78% African-American, 20% Hispanic, 1% European American and 1% Asian. Of this population, 92% of the students were native English speakers and the remaining students were English language learners who possessed understanding of the language, using English as their primary language while in school (New Jersey Department of Education, 2013). In addition, the mobility rate at this school was approximately 20% (The National Center for Education Statistics, 2011).

In sixth grade, there were 61 total students enrolled into four classes: one special education self-contained class, one mixed regular education classroom with inclusion students, and two fully regular education classes. For the purpose of this study, the two fully regular education classrooms were used. Since classes were already formed prior to conducting this study, convenience sampling (Gall et al., 2010) was used. The participants consisted of 40 regular education sixth grade students divided between two classes of 20 students each.

Based on the power analysis formula, a minimum of 65 participants would be necessary for each group in order to ensure sufficient power (Lipsey, as cited in Creswell, 2012, p. 611). Unfortunately, based on sixth grade's student numbers, I was unable to obtain this number of participants. The total number of participants was 40. Therefore, the sample size rendered for this study was underpowered in detecting group difference. While the results may be underpowered to support statistical significance, they may provide practical significance.

Given my role as my school's technology coordinator, I did not instruct any of the participants in this study. A state-certified mathematics teacher, who is a colleague and not my subordinate, taught both classes. This teacher has taught mathematics at the middle school level for the last 5 years and is familiar with the FASTT Math application. She agreed to participate in this study freely and understands my role is not to collect data about her instruction but to analyze the data that results from pretests/posttest. This teacher administered the 2-minute drills (pretests/posttest), as well as the CAI and traditional instruction as part of her routine mathematics class. My role was only to collect and report the data.

Instrumentation and Materials

The number of multiplication items answered correctly during multiple 2-minute drills was used to measure basic multiplication fact recall. The multiplication pretests contain 80 random multiplication problems chosen from 0 to 12 times tables. The tests were generated using Worksheet Works (2012), a program available from the Internet, which is commonly used by the school's classroom teachers. The posttest was developed using the same worksheet generator and copies of both the pretests and posttest can be found in Appendix C and D respectively. The total number of correct responses on each of the 2-minute drills provided the student's score, with 80 being the highest score possible. Higher scores indicated an increased level of mastery and fluency in multiplication. The results from the pretest and posttest were analyzed for performance change for the experimental group (O_2-O_1) and control group

 (O_4-O_3) were compared to determine if differences existed. The raw data and results are provided in the form of charts and graphs located in the data collection and analysis section of this study.

2-minute drills have often been used by educators to determine mastery and fluency of math skills, and are commonly used in my school. Historically, timed tests have been a standard measure of student ability in my school, usually derived from worksheets found on the Internet, drill pages located in the back of math textbooks, or other resources. Furthermore, based on conversations I have had with my school's math teachers, timed tests were considered a reliable measure to determine the level of math fact fluency.

The use of multiple assessments can be used to develop an equivalent-form of reliability, or consistency across different forms (Lodico, Spaulding, & Voegtle, 2010). To determine reliability, I analyzed the results of two pretest drills provided by Worksheet Works. While the content of both pretests were consistent, the question bank was populated with different items. As part of routine formative math review, students completed a 2-minute drill pretest using the first worksheet in one instance and completed the second pretest a few days later. The results of both pretests were analyzed to determine the similarity between student responses. To determine the level of reliability of the 2-minute drills, a reliability close to 1.0 would support use of 2-minute drills as a reliable instrument to determine math fact fluency. With regards to this study, the items on the 2-minute drill had very little variation due to the limited scope of the skill being assessed.

To further strengthen the reliability of the instrument, the results of each of the two pretests were averaged to produce a pretest automaticity score. Given that the items on the pretests varied to a limited degree—for example 8 x 9 may appear on one pretest, while 3 x 4 may appear on the other—two pretests provided a more reliable automaticity score than one pretest alone. Both pretests were administered during the week prior to beginning any treatments.

According to Lodico, et al. (2010), content validity is composed of sampling validity and item validity. To ensure validity, I approached four certified math teachers in my school, and asked them to review the multiplication 2-minute drills to determine if they were representative of the content that students in sixth grade would encounter. In addition to confirming that the content was valid, those teachers inspected each item and determined that the items did indeed represent the skill that was being assessed. There was a consensus among the math teachers in the school that sixth grade students encounter multiplication items like these in mathematics class, and that these items accurately measured the skill of multiplication.

Data Collection and Analysis

The primary purpose of this study was to determine if the use of CAI, specifically FASTT Math, would show greater rates of growth for students mastering their basic math facts than traditional instruction alone. This section describes the results pertaining to whether the group receiving FASTT Math demonstrated larger rates of growth on the 2minute drill than the group receiving traditional instruction.

In analyzing the data, it was first necessary to determine the homogeneity of the treatment and control groups towards mathematics achievement, as they existed prior to

the commencement of instruction. Simply put, I needed to know how similar the groups were prior to conducting this study. A Levene test using the student's automaticity baseline score was used to determine homogeneity. The Levene test is an inferential statistic that assesses the equality of variances or differences for a variable calculated for two of more groups. Student baseline scores were determined by averaging the results of the student's two pretest scores. Two pretests were given to strengthen the reliability of the use of the 2-minute drill and to provide a mean average of student performance. As anticipated student performance on both pretests was consistent with little variation. The Levene test, as reported in Table 1, indicated significance at .283 for the pretest average, which is above the accepted .05 level for significance, meaning that any differences between the two groups were minimal. In this case, both groups performed very similarly on their pretests and additional adjustments for preexisting differences were not necessary. Therefore, the pretest data analysis revealed there was no significant difference between the mathematics knowledge of the two groups, indicating that both groups should be considered homogenous.

Table 1

	Levene statistic	dfl	df2	Sig.
Pretest Average	1.185	1	38	.283
Posttest	.090	1	38	.766
Posttest – Pretest Difference	5.477	1	38	.025

Levene Test of Homogeneity of Variances

A Levene Statistic test was conducted on the pretests to determine the homogeneity of the two groups, concluding that both groups were similar.

During the next three weeks, the treatment group received FASTT Math multiplication practice during the last 10 minutes of math class, while the control group continued to receive traditionally based multiplication practice during the last 10 minutes of math class. The time allotted for instruction for the treatment and the control groups were identical and a posttest was administered at the end of three weeks to produce comparison quantitative data.

The results were analyzed using SPSS for Macintosh, and by using several statistical measures it was determined there was a significant change in performance of both groups when comparing the results from the pretests/posttest, as well as a posttest difference between the treatment and control groups. As seen in Figure 4, box plots illustrate that the posttest indicated that both groups obtained increased math fact fluency during the study, as the FASTT Math group increased by an average of 10 additional correct items on the 2-minute drill posttest, and the traditional instruction group increased by an average of 4 additional correct items on the 2-minute drill posttest.

This difference was determined to be statistically significant when evaluated using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Analysis of variance is used in comparative studies when differences in outcomes are being measured.



Figure 4. Box plots for 2-minute drill growth scores (posttest-pretest average).

The number of correct items completed during the pretests were used to determine each student's automaticity baseline score. I was looking for a positive posttest minus pretest difference to determine if there was an increase in student's automaticity after treatment. Using information from the SPSS analysis output, the descriptive statistics from both pretests, the average pretest baseline score, and posttest are reported in Table 2.

Table 2 illustrates both groups consisted of 20 students each (N), all of whom completed two pretests, consisting of pretest 1 and pretest 2. The results of both pretests were used to determine the pretest average or baseline score, these were than compared to

the posttest scores, resulting with the posttest-pretest difference. In addition, the table displays the minimum and maximum scores for each group, as well as the mean average and standard deviation.

Table 2

Descriptive	Statistics

		Ν	Count	Min	Max	Μ	SD
Group 1	Pretest 1	20	20	28	71	49	12.9
Control	Pretest 2	20	20	29	72	50	13.4
	Pretest Average	20		28.5	71.5	49.5	13
	Posttest	20	20	34	72	53.6	11.8
	Posttest – Pretest Difference	20	20	-0.5	9.5	4.1	3
Group 2	Drataat 1	20	20	20	70	551	117
		20	20	20	70	55.1	11./
Ireatment	Pretest 2	20	20	30	/0	56.5	10.8
	Pretest Average	20		29	70	55.8	11
	Posttest	20	20	37	80	66.4	11.4
	Posttest – Pretest Difference	20	20	1	29	10.6	7.1
C							
Group 1&2	Pretest 1	40	40	28	71	52	12.6
Totals	Pretest 2	40	40	29	72	53.2	12.4
	Pretest Average	40		28.5	71.5	52.6	12.3
	Posttest	40	40	34	80	60	13.2
	Posttest – Pretest Difference	40	40	-0.5	29	7.3	6.3

Descriptive statistics describe the number of participants who completed the 2-minute drills, minimum and maximum score of each group, the mean average, as well as the standard deviation.

In addition, the results of Cronbach's alpha indicated that the use of 2-minute drills are a reliable measure for determining student math fact fluency. Cronbach's alpha measures the level of internal reliability of the measurement instrument, such as a 2minute drill and the closer the Cronbach's alpha is to a score of 1.0 indicates a higher level of reliability. It is important that the instrument used to measure student performance is reliable or the results would be meaningless, and Cronbach's alpha for Pretest 1 and Pretest 2 both measured a reliability statistic of .918, while Cronbach's Alpha for the posttest was .941. This statistic indicates a very high level of reliability. These results can be viewed in Table 3.

Table 3

			Ν	%
Cases	Valid		40	100
	Excluded ^a		0	0
	Total		40	100
Reliability Statistics Pretest 1				
Cronbach's Alpha		N of Items		
0.918		80		
Reliability Statistics Pretest 2				
Cronbach's Alpha		N of Items		
0.918		80		
Reliability Statistics Posttest				
Cronbach's Alpha		N of Items		
0.941		80		

Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's alpha reliability statistics determines the internal reliability of an measurement instrument. This table depicts the Cronbach's Alpha for Pretest 1 & 2 and the posttest.

Research Question and Hypotheses

The purpose of this study was to examine whether the group using computer aided instruction would show greater rates of growth on the 2-minute drill than the group receiving traditional instruction. There is only one research question and corresponding hypothesis being explored in this study. The results of the question and hypothesis are presented below. Was there a significant difference in math fact fluency among those sixth grade students who receive didactic mathematics instruction and those sixth grade students who receive FASTT Math software instruction, as measured by a 2-minute drill performance instrument that is supported by the school curriculum?

H₀: Implementation of FASTT Math will not be significantly associated with a positive change in the automaticity rate in basic multiplication facts for sixth grade students.

H₁: Implementation of FASTT Math will be significantly associated with a positive change in the automaticity rate in basic multiplication facts for sixth grade students.

Independent variable: use of FASTT Math

Dependent variable: change in mean difference between students' pretest and posttest scores

The hypothesis in this study compared the 2-minute drill scores of two groups of sixth grade students, one group received FASTT Math CAI instruction, and the other received traditional instruction. The goal was to determine if the use of FASTT Math would produce a larger change in mean difference between students' pretest and posttest scores. The hypothesis was tested with an ANOVA using SPSS software. The summary of the results of the ANOVA analysis appears in Table 4. Primarily, the posttest-pretest difference between groups (or classrooms) had a mean square of 419.256, which was significant at the .0001 level. This is a clear difference as most ANOVA are considered significant at the .05 or .01 level.

Table 4

One-	Way	ANC)VA
	~		

		Sum of Sq.	df	Mean Sq.	F	Sig.
Pretest Average	Between Groups	400.056	1	400.056	2.769	0.104
	Within Groups	5490.188	38	144.479		
	Total	5890.244	39			
Posttest	Between Groups	1638.4	1	1638.4	12.156	0.001
	Within Groups	5121.5	38	134.776		
	Total	6759.9	39			
Posttest - Pretest Difference	Between Groups	419.256	1	419.256	14.143	0.001
	Within Groups	1126.438	38	29.643		
	Total	1545.694	39			

One-way ANOVA compared the effect of math fact fluency between the control and experimental group to determine the level of significance.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of math fact fluency instruction on student performance on a 2-minute drill comparing FASTT Math instruction and traditional instruction conditions. There was a significant effect on the automaticity scores on the posttest at the p < .05 level for the FASTT Math condition [F (1, 38) = 14.143, p = 0.001]. The results in Table 4 indicate that the null hypothesis was rejected at p < .001. The mean scores on the posttest indicated an increase in performance for both groups. On average, student gain for the control group was 4.1 more correct responses and 10.5 additional correct responses for the treatment group. Students who received FASTT Math instruction showed a significantly greater growth from the pretests to posttest than the control group who received traditional instruction. This means that the students who used FASTT Math showed more growth in mastering math facts than the other students.

Assumptions, Limitations, Scope, and Delimitations

This study assessed the use of FASTT Math to increase basic math fact fluency. The strengths of this study included the use of one specific, easy-to-use software application, as well as, focusing only on one skill, and being implemented at one grade level. The narrow focus enabled the findings to have a more direct correlation with the treatment.

There were numerous variables that influenced the results of research. These include research assumptions, limitations, scope, and delimitations.

For assumptions, I assumed that the students performed as well as they could completing the 2-minute drills. I assumed that the 2-minute drills were administered properly and that the time limits for the drills were adhered to. I assumed that every effort would be made to ensure that the data collected was as valid and reliable as possible. In addition, I assumed that those involved in the study—teachers, students and administrators—would cooperate throughout the entire process. Finally, I assumed that the students would be able to access and operate the FASTT Math program. Based on my observations, interactions with students and cooperating teacher, and careful data gathering process, it appears that these goals were met.

This research contained numerous limitations. The first limitation was the measurement instrument. Because no published instrument was available, the instrument was produced using an online drill bank that is supported by the school curriculum. The use of a quasi-experimental research design made it impossible to establish a causality,

only allowing a correlation to be determined. In addition, due to the small sample size (40 student participants), the findings had limited generalizability, therefore limiting its external validity. The small scale of this research suggests that the findings may be indicative of only this school's population rather than a representative sample of the country. Other limitations included time and resources. I was limited to one school, within one district, located in New Jersey.

This study included a few delimitations that may have influenced this study. According to Hancock & Algozzine (2006), delimitations pertain to a study's boundaries that define the limits of the study. The first delimitation was that the study only included regular education students from two sixth grade mathematics classes. Another delimitation was the length of the study as well as the study's research design. It is possible that a longer study, or a study that included a larger participant pool from a variety of grade levels, or a study conducted with a different research design may have produced different results.

Protecting Participants

Protecting the rights of participants was of the highest priority. Because the data produced was part of routine assessment required by the district curriculum, parent consent was not necessary. Prior to collecting data, the project study was reviewed and approved by Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB), indicated by the approval number: 12-09-13-0064332. In addition, the site school's principal signed a letter of cooperation and data sharing agreement.

For the purpose of this study, participant's names were changed to protect their anonymity. This was achieved by keying student names with identification numbers that were only known to me. All data from the 2-minute drills is stored digitally on a USB drive in a locked filing cabinet until 2019, when it will be erased.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to determine if CAI is an effective method to develop math fact fluency as compared to traditional instruction. The quasi-experimental study included 40 sixth grade students and one teacher over a 3-week period. Instruction focused on math fact fluency, specifically multiplication fluency. Results of this study indicated a statistically significant improvement for those students who used FASTT Math instruction over traditional instruction. The students who practiced math facts using FASTT Math demonstrated a higher level of math fact fluency on a 2-minute posttest drill than students using traditional methods. While the results of this study are promising, more research is necessary to determine the level of impact increasing math fact fluency will have on standardized tests, such as the NJ ASK. Hopefully the results from this study will provide some insight to improving student achievement in mathematics and promote further research into the effectiveness of CAI.

The following section, Section 3, will include details about the project, a white paper, which was used to present the research results to my district's superintendent. This white paper outlined the initial problem at the local and larger levels. It explained the results of this study, and the possible role of FASTT Math throughout the school's district.

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

This study was designed to determine if CAI is an effective method to develop math fact fluency as compared to traditional instruction. This section includes the project's goals, rationale, a literature review, project implementation and evaluation overview, and implications for social change. The policy recommendation presented in the form of a white paper,—the project component of this study (Appendix A)—will inform all district stakeholders of the findings of this study and provide curriculum policy recommendations for the use of FASTT Math in their schools.

Description and Goals

Based on the evidence of my study, the project consists of a mathematics curriculum policy recommendation presented in the form of a white paper. The policy recommendation will be presented to the local school district's superintendent and board of education once my doctoral study has been accepted and approved by Walden University. The goal of the white paper is to discuss the success of FASTT Math instruction, communicate the study's findings and conclusions, as well as provide recommendations for changes in mathematics curriculum policy, to policy makers. The white paper includes an introduction, a description of the problem, the study's findings, policy recommendations, conclusions, and references. The white paper provides recommendations in an attempt to alleviate the district's ongoing math performance issue.

Rationale

Walden University accepts four genres for project development. These include an evaluation report, a curriculum plan, a professional development plan, or policy recommendation with detail. The genre selected for this project was a policy recommendation with detail, delivered in the form of a white paper. The following information provides the rationale for this decision. When considering the genre choices, I needed to review parameters and results of my study, and determine the outcome I was looking for, which is to increase student achievement through the use of the program FASTT Math. FASTT Math is a program that was already purchased and sanctioned for use by the local school district, but does not have a mandate for use.

Based on usage reports, FASTT Math did not have enough usage to conduct a program evaluation; thus that type of study was not pursued. Consequently, an evaluation report would not be an appropriate genre of choice for a project. In addition, since FASTT Math is partially integrated into the existing local school district's mathematics' curriculum and supports the common core state standards, developing a curriculum plan would not be the appropriate genre. With regards to FASTT Math implementation, there is a limited professional development component. The professional development pertains primarily to student management and analyzing student reports, making an elaborate professional development plan unnecessary. What is needed is further evidence at additional grades for the district to justify a mandate for FASTT Math implementation.

I chose to use the white paper format to lay out the research base supporting FASTT Math theoretically, in practice, and within the school's sixth grade. This research base and study findings were used to suggest a policy recommendation for the mathematics curriculum that would mandate the use of the program. Details are carefully listed in the white paper regarding fact fluency, increasing student math achievement, reducing current achievement gaps, and promoting a positive attitude towards mathematics. As an accessible, short, document the white paper is intended to educate teachers in the district as well as administration, the school board, and any interested parents. Importantly, the white paper also presents the findings of this study to inform policy makers of the statistically significant relationship between the use of FASTT Math and student math fact fluency. While the size and scope of the current study is limited, with my assistance studies could be performed in classrooms across the district to assess the helpfulness of FASTT Math at different grade levels given that the range is third through eighth grade. Although the white paper itself is not a solution to the problem, it may provide vital information and recommendations to enable teachers and policy makers to make decisions based on data.

Review of the Literature

This literature review focuses on development of a mathematics curriculum policy recommendation in the form of a white paper that presents the finding of my study, as well as recommendations for increasing math fact fluency through the use of FASTT Math. Several online searches were conducted to produce literature pertaining to FASTT Math implementation and white paper development. Online databases included ERIC, Education Research Complete, Education from SAGE, Education Research Starters, and ProQuest Central. Search terms included *automaticity, CAI, computer aided instruction, computer assisted instruction, data teams, education policy, FASTT Math, math facts, math fact fluency, policy, professional development, response to intervention, and white*

paper. Many of the results pertaining to math fact fluency and CAI duplicated the searches from section 1, and searches for white paper did not produce many results. Since a comprehensive database search for peer-reviewed studies for white paper yielded only a few sources, a saturation of literature was obtained through the use of Google Scholar and Google web searches.

Policy

Anderson (2014) defines policy as "a purposive course of action or inaction followed by an actor or set of actors in dealing with a problem or matter of concern" (p7). Kraft and Furlong (2012) describe public policy as the choices that government officials make to deal with public problems. These policies are enacted with specific goals and intentions, such as solving a problem or enhancing the quality of life (Wilson, 2016). Policies are designed and implemented by government officials at the federal, state, and local levels, as well as by other organizational entities.

Education Policy

Education policy is a form of public policy that impacts education that is implemented at the federal, state, and local levels. The state governments take on the central role in education policy in America today. According to Lawton (2012), "They are primarily responsible for designing, funding, and regulating public school systems" (p. 455). Although, in recent years the federal government has increased its influence on education policy, for example through the enactment of Race to the Top (RTTT) grant initiative (McGuinn, 2014). At the local level, school boards of education enact education policy. According to the Washington State School Directors' Association (2011), school boards develop policies to enable the functioning of the school district with the primary goal of improving student achievement outcomes. My presentation to the local school district's superintendent and school board of education is a request to change current education policy to assist with this goal.

Policy Recommendation

In order to enact change in current mathematics curriculum policy, a mathematics curriculum policy recommendation will be made to the local school district's superintendent and board of education. According to Doyle (2013), a policy recommendation is "simply written policy advice prepared for some group that has the authority to make decisions, whether that is a cabinet, council, committee or other body" (para. 1). In education, policy makers may be "in state or federal governments or leaders in schools, such as superintendents, principals, curriculum directors or teachers" (Creswell, 2012, p. 271). Policy recommendations are the primary instrument used to initiate change of existing policy, or to develop new policy. The policy recommendation, developed as the project component of this project study, will be delivered in the form of a white paper.

White Paper

Historically, the term white paper referred to official government reports produced in the United Kingdom early in the twentieth century (G. Graham, 2013; Stelzner, 2010). Graham (2013) noted, white papers were short reports or position papers named for the color of their white covers, distinguishing them from the much longer reports with blue covers. These papers provided legislators with background information prior to voting on a particular issue (Kantor, 2010). These papers provided a format for timely information assembly, dissemination, and absorption. Graham (2013) and Stelzner (2010) claimed that the term originated from the Churchill Paper, also known as the British White Paper of 1922. While white papers continue to be used in government, different forms of white papers have "become prevalent in high-tech industries in recent years" (Willerton, 2012). Primarily, white papers have become commonplace in government as well as business.

Defining the term white paper has some challenges as this term has evolved over time. Historically, white papers refer to government reports on any given topic. While this may be true, white papers today consist of much more than just government reports. Stelzner (2007) defines a white paper as, "a persuasive document that usually describes problems and how to solve them. The white paper is a crossbreed of a magazine article and a brochure" (p. 2). Graham (2013) adds that white papers use "facts and logic to promote a certain product, service, or solution to a problem (loc. 821 of 9545). Kantor (2010) defines a white paper as "a document between six and twelve pages whose purpose is to educate, inform, and convince a reader through the accurate identification of existing problems and the presentation of beneficial solutions that solve those challenges" (p. 11). Although, there is not one single modern definition for the term white paper, I would conclude that there is a consensus that the goal of a white paper is to educate, inform, and persuade.

Since the advent of the Internet, the uses of white papers have proliferated, and have become a major force in the business world (Canright, 2011). White papers are a powerful marketing tool "used to help decision-makers and influencers justify implementing solutions" (Stelzner 2010, p.2). In business, white papers have been successful because they are considered to be marketing with content (Graham 2013).

They address a known problem and provide a credible solution. They are used to educate readers on a company's value as it pertained to a particular product or service. Because these documents are primarily intended to educate, they quickly become viral and spread across an organization (Stelzner, 2007). White papers have become part of the professional literature that is not published through traditional channels. According to Haapaniemi (2010), "white paper's growing appeal stems from its ability to tell an indepth story and demonstrate a company's thought leadership in addressing business problems"(p. 6). White papers provide credible solution to a problem in a concise, easy to read format that places value on the reader's time (Graham, 2013; Kantor, 2010; Stelzner, 2007). In addition, white papers are very versatile and are easily disseminated through the internet (Clift, 1999).

FASTT Math & Math Fact Fluency

As discussed in section 1, the problem my study addressed was the lack of student achievement in sixth grade mathematics. As our students underperformed on state assessments, I began to ask my school's math teachers the question why? What skills were the students lacking that hindered their ability to succeed on our standardized tests? While I received many responses, one answer was abundantly clear. Our students lacked fluency of basic math facts. Therefore, I began to research theories pertaining to math facts to determine if there could be a connection. After some considerable research, I realized that theories pertaining to hierarchy of learning and working memory supported such a connection. Students who acquired and maintained basic math facts are better suited to progress to more conceptual abstract skills, such as word problems and problem solving (Axtell et al., 2009). In order for students to become proficient in these higher order-thinking tasks, they must first become fluent in basic math facts. Therefore, I was determined to find an effective way to increase student math fact fluency, which led me to FASTT Math.

Studying the impact of FASTT Math was pursued for many reasons. FASTT Math is a computer application purchased by my district and is used in my school. Therefore, it was district approved and one of the instructional tools available for use. FASTT Math is based on an extensive body of empirical and theoretical research that incorporates the use of technology. I also wanted to learn if CAI would have a positive affect on student achievement. Lastly, with a limited budget, was the district expenditure for FASTT Math worth the cost?

At the core of FASTT Math, students develop math fact fluency. According to the National Mathematics Advisory Panel (2008), a computational fluency foundation can be obtained only after students can quickly and accurately recall basic math facts and become familiar with number operations. With this foundation, computational fluency is achieved through meaningful practice that involves developing and strengthening relationships of number combinations (Hasselbring, Lott, & Sydney, 2006). If students do not develop math fact fluency, this will have a negative impact on their future development (Hasselbring et al., 2006) as well as development of higher-order math skills (Loveless 2003).

FASTT Math targets instruction and practice to build declarative knowledge, also referred to as factual knowledge, a fact that is known, such as $7 \ge 3 = 21$. This is important because students who struggle with developing mathematical ideas need instruction that aids them in strengthening their understanding of fundamental mathematical ideas (Burns, 2007). Developing automatic reasoning strategies should be the primary focus of basic math facts practice and not isolated facts drills, which are ineffective and may hinder purposeful practice (Baroody, 2009, Hasselbring et al., 2006). For this reason, FASTT Math adds new facts only after the student is consistently able to retrieve the answer to the fact. Students can draw on their previous knowledge to assist with answering new math facts. Thereby developing fluency only after acquisition has been maintained. In addition, only a small set of new facts are added to studied facts in any given session.

FASTT Math links numbers to optimize memory. The development of math fact fluency provides the foundation for higher-order computation and estimation. Automaticity demonstrates the transfer of basic math facts knowledge from working to long-term memory, thus providing working memory with the capacity to process more advanced mathematics (Baroody, 2009). FASTT Math requires that students type each newly introduced fact such as 7 x 3 = 21, rather than simply typing the answer 21. By doing so a connection is made between the entire problem to promote retention to longterm memory.

Lastly, FASTT Math utilizes technology to improve students' learning. Many computer programs that support number development have the ability to provide immediate feedback to users. This has allowed students to work on their weaknesses in number combinations at their own pace (Van de Walle et al., 2010). NMAP (2008) recommended the use of CAI to assist children in the development of fact fluency and automaticity. In addition, the use of gaming environment allows students multiple opportunities to think strategically and gain additional practice with their learned facts. Furthermore, when students participate in one of the games, such as becoming a soccer goalie blocking shots with every correct response, they are actively engaged in the process. At the end of each game, students are provided with their scores, which can be compared with their personal best or with the score of their friends. In this way, the game provides some friendly competition that appears to motivate students to give their best effort.

The results of my study determined that the use of FASTT Math had a significantly positive effect on student math fact fluency when compared to traditional instruction. These results, as well as the information from this literature review will be found in the white paper.

Recommendations

The results of my study indicated that FASTT Math was more effective than traditional instruction to develop math fact fluency with sixth grade students and the section above discussed the research foundation of FASTT Math. Below I discuss the recommendations that are found in the white paper and the literature supporting them.

1. Initiate a larger district-wide study to provide further evidence at additional grade levels for the district to justify a mandate for FASTT Math implementation. If supported by the findings, incorporate the use FASTT Math in all third through eighth grades as part of the regular mathematics classes to teach new skills as well as reinforce skills previously taught, by designating FASTT Math as a center for 10-minutes during math class at least three times per week.

2. Provide professional development (PD) for teachers in order to manage student enrollment, monitor student progress, and use data to drive instruction. 3. Expand current data teams in each school to review FASTT Math reports from each student and compare this information with other types of data in order to create a student profile. By tracking data from multiple sources, we will be able to determine the success of implementing FASTT Math and its impact on future student achievement.

The first recommendation suggests conducting further research in order to justify incorporating the use of FASTT Math in all third through eighth grades as part of the regular mathematics classes. Next, the teacher would designate FASTT Math as a center for 10-minutes during math class at least three times per week to teach new skills as well as reinforce skills previously taught. NMAP (2008) warned that most curricula in the United States did not provide sufficient practice of basic math facts to ensure fluency and recommends that high quality CAI drill and practice, implemented with fidelity, be considered as a useful tool in developing students' automaticity, freeing working memory so that attention can be devoted to the more conceptual aspects of complex tasks. By incorporating FASTT Math consistently, student math fact fluency will increase. Furthermore, McCoy, Barnett, & Combs (2013) stated that consistent use of routines can yield organizational and academic benefits for students.

FASTT Math focuses on building math fact fluency of whole numbers using all four mathematical operations. The Common Core State Standards (CCSS) indicates the importance of student fluency with basic math facts. Developing fluency with whole number operations is a critical area of focus in elementary grades, while upper grade level standards build upon this foundation. NMAP (2008) declared that students should have a grasp of basic math fact by the end of fifth or sixth grade.

IES recommends that interventions at all grades should devote about 10-minutes in each class to building fluent retrieval of arithmetic facts. This 10-minute period provides continual practice so students can maintain fluency and proficiency, as well as acquire new facts. Many school districts have started using Response-to-Intervention (RtI) as the way to enhance student learning in general education classes (Zirkel & Thomas, 2010). This approach required the use of several levels of instructional interventions as the way to support struggling learners in regular education classes. The steps involved with RtI include: evaluating each student to determine their instructional needs, followed by high quality interventions, and finally determining an effective way to evaluate student progress (Zirkel & Thomas, 2010). As part of the FASTT Math program, each student completes an initial program evaluation to determine their skill deficiencies and is placed on a learning path individually based on their performance. Teachers can monitor student progress through the use of FASTT Math reports. RtI guidelines suggested that students who demonstrated academic improvements should continue receiving instructional support in regular education classes (Shinn, 2007).

The second recommendation is to provide professional development (PD) for teachers in order to manage student enrollment and progress, as well as how to use data to drive instruction. According to Mizell (2010) ongoing professional development, "creates a culture of learning throughout the school and supports educators' efforts to engage students in learning" (p. 18). Mizell continued, professional development provides the means for teachers to learn about how their students learn, and how the teacher's instruction can increase student learning. According to Schechter (2012), to continue to be up to date with educational reforms, teachers must be provided ways to develop and increase their knowledge and abilities. School leadership must present purposeful effort to improve and nurture existing teacher knowledge by creating an environment that encourages teamwork and collaboration among colleagues (Lipshitz, Friedman, & Popper, 2007). Recent literature has provided evidence that collaboration among teacher colleagues as well as professional development activities have improved classroom instruction and increased student achievement (Gallimore, Ermeling, Saunders, & Goldenberg, 2009; Schechter, 2012).

The third recommendation suggests expanding data teams in each school to review FASTT Math reports from each student and compare this information with other types of data. By tracking student data from multiple sources, we will be able to determine the success of implementing FASTT Math and its impact on future learning. According to Allison et al. (2010), Teacher Data Teams are designed to improve teaching, learning, and leadership through combining professional collaboration and decision making based on student data. They help efficiently and accurately choose interventions and program initiatives, and then follow up to determine if they are working (Gray & Harrington, 2011). Data teams are embedded in research and are designed for results.

In order to implement the use of a data team, a six-step process needs to be followed. This process consists of: (1) collection and charting of data, (2) analyzing and prioritizing needs, (3) establishing Specific, Measurable, Attainable, Realistic, and Timely (SMART) goals, (4) selecting instructional strategies, (5) determine results indicators, and (6) monitoring and evaluating results (Allison, et al., 2010, Perry, 2011). Collecting and charting data focuses on collecting formative data and developing a plan

58

to improve student learning. The second step is to analyze and prioritize the needs of the school. Data teams will determine the areas of greatest need of the learners. Once the needs assessment is complete, SMART goals are developed. These goals should be short-term by nature and reviewed and evaluated regularly. The fourth step focuses on determining which research-based instructional practices to implement. Then, data teams monitor and evaluate their progress. By incorporating regular evaluation and reflection periods, programs can be modified to meet the need of the school community (Allison, et al., 2010, Perry, 2011).

In the case of FASTT Math, the data teams would be provided with step one of collecting and chartering data including current student standardized tests scores, the findings of this research, and the findings of the potential larger study. Step two would be prioritizing needs and while this is predetermined as math fact fluency, each classroom will target different skills needing development. This will be evident in step three with the establishment of SMART goals that can be set for a classroom and even for a student within the FASTT Math software. The crucial role that the Data Teams would be asked to do are steps five and six; data teams would set result indicators and then monitor to see if they are being met.

The overarching goal of a mathematics curriculum policy recommendation is to provide, in a white paper, advice to policy makers so that they can make informed decisions regarding policy. Thus this genre is ideal to discuss the problem of student achievement and present the findings of my study to a wide variety of consumers. The white paper offers specific recommendations that could result in new administrative practices and the development of curriculum changes related to math fact fluency and the
use of CAI, specifically the implementation of FASTT Math. In addition, this white paper includes research and theories related to acquiring and retaining math fact fluency and its impact on student achievement as well as mathematics' instruction.

In conclusion, this literature review included a brief discussion of policy, education policy, policy recommendation, the historical origins of the white paper and benefits of white papers as an information-sharing format. This literature review also presents the foundations of FASTT Math and policy recommendations for implementation. As administrators and school board members must often read immense amounts of materials prior to reaching a decision (Graham, 2012), the white paper provides an easy to read, time saving format which offers an overview of math fact fluency data related to student performance, and recommendations for improvement.

Implementation

The proposal phase of implementation of the project, which is the policy recommendation in the form of a white paper, will not require many resources beyond the development of the white paper and the time required to disseminate and discuss its merit. The white paper will be saved as a PDF file that will be uploaded to my school's electronic repository for staff members to have easy access if desired. The file will be emailed to my school's administrative team, the district's supervisor of mathematics, as well as the district's superintendent. In addition, a paper copy of the white paper will be delivered to the superintendent with a sincere written request that she would take time out of her busy schedule to discuss it with me. Eventually, I hope to present the policy recommendations to the local board of education. Further implementation would depend on the outcomes determined by the district's superintendent. Permitting a positive meeting with the superintendent, I would like to follow-up with the math supervisor and the district math coaches. In addition, once my recommended larger follow-up study is completed I will add them to the white paper and redistribute it., I will submit the findings of this study, and hopefully the larger study, to present at local education conferences where I will share the white paper. I will also submit the finding, and possibly the white paper, for publication in a regional educational journal. According to Simpson, Yarris, and Carek (2013) scholarship is not attained unless the research advances knowledge in the field of study and is made public and accessible. The white paper will provide a description of the problem that was studied, the findings of the study, as well as its recommendations and implications. This white paper format has digestible research nuggets, local context and findings, with recommendations will be an excellent vehicle for driving the heart of this research home to our schools, parents, and students.

The focal points are the three policy changes with regards to FASTT Math and the mathematics' curriculum. The first recommendation is to gather further evidence to support mandating the district incorporation of FASTT Math into all third through eighth grade mathematics' classes. The second recommendation provides professional development to ensure proper implementation of FASTT Math. Lastly, the third recommendation expands the use of data teams to track student data in order to collect the necessary data to justify mandating FASTT Math. It is my belief that all three of the recommendations taken as a whole are needed to ensure the effectiveness of implementing FASTT Math. If the local school board adopts the three recommendations, actual implementation would take a collaborative effort involving administration, coaches, teachers, and students.

Potential Resources and Existing Supports

In order to develop the policy recommendations in the form of a white paper, research was required. I needed to review literature pertaining to policy recommendations, white papers, the foundations of FASTT Math, and support for recommendations that may lead to curricular policy changes intended to increase student achievement. To complete this task, I relied primarily on the use of the Walden University Library for peer reviewed journals and leads to other literature. In addition, support from the University in the form of my doctoral committee and IRB (12-09-13-0064332) assisted me with this process. Other resources that contributed to this white paper included the data collected through this study as well as the findings it produced. I also relied on literature to assist with the development of the white paper as it pertains to the presentation of the subject matter.

The mathematics curriculum policy recommendations within the white paper are all supported by the literature, but would my recommendations work in my district or at my school? For this reason, I approached a few of my school's math teachers for their input. I proposed each of my recommendations to them and asked for their feedback. Most of the feedback was supportive, indicating that all of the recommendations were welcomed, but some concerns were raised. These concerns will be discussed as a potential barrier.

Technology Supports. The ease of implementation of FASTT Math will support adopting the first recommendation to further study and integrate FASTT Math into all third through eighth grade mathematics classes. FASTT Math was previously purchased by the local school district and can be accessed by all district computers through the district's intranet. Every classroom is equipped with seven computers, which all have access to FASTT Math. Logistically, this makes the possibility for implementation fairly easy. Another support for this recommendation is that FASTT Math supports the current mathematics curriculum and policy pertaining to the use of stations and centers. Teachers are required to differentiate instruction by creating flexible groupings. By implementing the use of FASTT Math in small groups, teachers are provided with an individualized self-paced center that differentiates instruction. Lastly, given the fact that FASTT Math is easy to use, not requiring regular teacher input or student instruction, teachers will be more likely to support its use.

Personnel Supports. Math coaches and technology coordinators will be available to assist teachers with FASTT Math implementation. Staff members in both of these positions have received training for proper implementation of FASTT Math and currently have access to monitor student usage and student progress.

Teachers, math coaches, technology coordinators, and administrators can access and monitor student usage and progress. Providing easy access to reports enables staff members to stay informed on a continual basis. With this said, it is important that someone is responsible to monitor usage and progress to ensure fidelity and to determine the effectiveness of this initiative. In my district this would primarily be the responsibility of the math coaches. Our math coaches monitor all mathematics curriculum and programs that are math related. Math coaches have weekly contact with every mathematics teacher. During their visit they discuss the successes and issues from the previous week as well as plan for the week ahead. The math coaches would ensure that FASTT Math was implemented as directed and provide teachers with data to inform their instruction. The technology coordinators will ensure that each student and math teacher has access to FASTT Math and that the application works properly. This addition of responsibility is already within the scope of the responsibilities of the math coaches and the technology coordinators, therefore resulting in no additional cost to the school district.

Professional Development Supports. Support for adopting the second recommendation to provide professional development for proper FASTT Math implementation can be found in district's belief in providing staff with ongoing professional development. Each year, there are four full days of in-service training provided on a variety of topics, as well as twenty-four, one hour meetings that can be used for professional development. Therefore, there is an infrastructure already developed that could be used for providing training. In addition, training necessary for managing FAST Math is minimal and will not require more than an initial overview session, and follow-up training on an as needed basis. Lastly, teachers would be more inclined to implement FASTT Math's use if professional development was provided.

Professional development for implementing FASTT math will be provided through the use of face-to-face initial training and access to resources located on the school district's webpage. These resources will include short training videos, the FASTT Math manual, a link to the product's resource website, my FASTT Math white paper, and a dedicated discussion board where dialogue can occur. The district's mathematics supervisor will oversee this initiative. A 1-hour face-to-face training will be provided in

64

each school during one of the scheduled professional development meetings and will be facilitated by the math coaches and technology coordinators.

I will present the initial training first to the math supervisor, math coaches, and technology coordinators using a PowerPoint. This is so that they may be able to help with professional development delivery. I will provide an overview of FASTT Math and include a hands-on component including both playing the game as a child, and of setting up a class as a teacher to use FASTT Math. Given that providing professional development is one aspect of the job description of the math coaches and the technology coordinators, and that the meeting is part of the contractual workday, there is no compensation provided for the facilitators or staff members receiving training.

To further assist the professional development coaches and coordinators I will make scheduled visits to the math teachers in different buildings to see them use FASTT Math on their own computers. I will ask them to show me (and other teachers there) how they "do" FASTT Math when they go in to monitor it. When they show me, I can ask them to show me how to use key features they did not use in their demonstration. If they don't know how, I can show them and let them try. In this way, each teacher will have me come, check on their ability, and help them to expand their ability. While somewhat time intensive, this is likely the single most effective practice for increasing the fidelity of the experiment and of the teacher's long-term use of the FASTT program.

I will encourage teachers to email me directly so that I can help them with issues ASAP. I will also post these questions and answers to a discussion board that any teacher can access at any time. The discussion board will be hosted on the district's webpage.

This will be initiated and maintained during my workday, therefore resulting in no additional cost for the school district.

Data Collection Support. Support for the third recommendation to expand current data teams may come from an existing need to monitor student progress and to use data to drive instruction. The recommendation suggests expanding current data teams to monitor the success of FASTT Math once the program is implemented. Given that the data teams are already established and that the math coaches are participants, including FASTT Math data would not too difficult. The math coach would be responsible for aggregating the FASTT Math data and presenting it to the team.

The standardized NJ ASK tests are also a way to track student's mathematical ability due to FASTT Math. Teachers and administrators alike want to find ways to improve student achievement, and data analysis is the only way to determine which programs actually work. In addition, FASTT Math data can be analyzed to determine if a correlation exists between FASTT Math and the NJ ASK. Furthermore, this data would provide another resource to for multiple measures to be used to determine student growth. By incorporating more data into the analysis, a more accurate depiction of student achievement will emerge. This informs administration where additional support is needed so more efficient staffing decisions can be made. Lastly, as we incorporate more data analysis, additional staff must become involved in the process, resulting in a larger conversation about the relationship between data and instruction.

Potential Barriers

The initial potential barrier I foresee with the implementation of the mathematics curriculum policy recommendations would be the lack of acceptance by the superintendent. Will the superintendent accept the research findings as valid and reliable? This is why I will propose to collect additional data from other grades with significant numbers to increase the validity and reliability of the findings. Given that FASTT Math is a district initiative and part of our curricular offerings, the findings would support a program already in place. But, producing a white paper displaying data that demonstrates student success and policy recommendations is only the first step to implementing a change in policy and practice. Additional research would let teachers witness FASTT Math in action.

Beyond policy, teachers will need to exhibit buy-in in order for the recommendations to have lasting effects. Teachers at the classroom level must see the importance of the combined findings and adjust their practices accordingly. Hopefully, given that the findings of this study were produced locally, my colleagues may deem them as relevant, and reproducible. In addition, teachers will need to find the recommendations viable. When I discussed the recommendations with a few of the school's math teachers, I received mostly supportive responses but some concerns arose.

The primary concern was the time that would be allocated to implement FAST Math. Teachers were concerned that FASTT Math would take too much of their already limited instructional time for mathematics. Time is the one resource that will always be scarce, and this appears to be true as we move forward. I believe that limited instructional time would be the biggest hurdle facing implementing FASTT Math on a regular basis.

Another concern was the added need to manage student usage, essentially developing a FASTT Math routine in class. While suggestions can be made to assist teachers with developing a working routine, may times successful implementation results from trial and error. This is another instance where the weekly visit from a math coach is essential. During a visit, teachers can share any concerns or questions they have regarding FASTT Math with their math coach. At this time, the math coach can offer suggestions, provide a model based on another teacher's practice, or direct the teacher to the districts webpage that hosts our message board community. Teachers will need to be encouraged to incorporate FASTT Math in their classrooms through the use of email and face-to-face conversation by the school administrative team and math coaches.

Potential barriers with regards to professional development and expansion of a data team would be increased workload for math coaches and technology coordinators. While I would not expect the need to hire additional staff to provide professional development or conduct data collection and analysis, increased workload would be required to complete both tasks. For example, within my school, I would offer to facilitate the professional development for FAST Math, but would anyone offer to facilitate elsewhere? There may be resistance from colleagues who are requested to perform this task. The same issues would impact the data team as well. While providing professional development and participation on the data teams is a requirement for both of these positions, is does not mean that those participants would be happy performing those tasks. In addition, with all of the initiatives competing for professional development hours, limited professional development "slots" may be a barrier.

Proposal for Implementation and Timetable

Send White Paper PDF to District Administration	October 2014
Request Meeting with Superintendent	
Meet with Math Coaches and Technology Coordinators	October 2014
Email request for volunteer teachers to evaluate FASTT Math	November 2014
Professional Development with Math Coaches and Technology Coordinators	November 2014
Individual Check In with Teacher by Mr. Bochniak	December 2014
Begin Implementation of FASTT Math, pretests in treatment and control	January 2015
Collect Posttest data, Teachers continue FASTT Math, control can start	February 2015
Analysis added White Paper report,	March 2015
E-mail pdf to superintendent and then to all district faculty and staff.	

Figure 5. Timetable for additional data collection and analyses

Professional Development Orientation:	April 2015
All teachers by technology coordinators & math coaches	
All teachers use FASTT Math as a trial run	May-June 2015
Summer Vacation	
Professional Development Small Group and Individual Visits	September 2015
Hands-on: demonstration teacher's own current use of FASTT Math	
PD leaders: Additional options shared, errors remediated.	
All third through eighth grade classes use FASTT Math,	September 2015
Data teams collecting and reviewing data	Oct-Dec 2015
WEEKLY – grade level coaching reviews data with team	
MONTHLY –math coach pull data from FASST and analyze	
Report of FASTT Student Progress across district	January 2016
Monitor FASTT with Administration of Standardized Tests	Spring 2016

Figure 6. Timetable for monitoring FASST Math implementation

Once my doctoral study is approved, I will upload a copy of the white paper to my school's electronic repository and send PDF versions to my school's administrative team and to the superintendent. At that time, I will send a paper copy of the white paper to the superintendent with a request for a meeting. Further implementation of the policy recommendation will depend on the outcome of the meeting with the superintendent. Use of FASTT Math data collection could start this school year if the superintendent approves some form of the plan. It would require permission to collect additional data with volunteer teachers and approved help from the math coaches and technology coordinators. I believe that teachers will want to be part of this larger study because we are always searching for more effective ways to increase student performance. In addition, since the FASTT Math program, and not the teacher will be the focus of the study, more teachers may feel comfortable taking part. Given that FASTT Math is already a district resource, reminding staff that it is available and providing some promotion for use by our math coaches, technology coordinators, and administrators, would most likely increase FASTT Math usage prior to professional development.

Meetings between the math coaches and technology coordinators would be held to ascertain their support for the implementation of FASTT Math. Once these faculty and the other administration had approved moving forward, the superintendent would hopefully approve the additional data collection and analysis with volunteer teachers. Email requests for volunteers would be sent and responses evaluated. The goal would be to have at least ten treatment teachers, ideally from a range of grade levels. The additional requirement for a volunteer is to have same grade teachers in control classrooms from which to collect pre and post data control data. Once the list of volunteers was intact, we would conduct the professional development

Once approved, the orientation professional development could be implemented within 30 days. It would require that the math coaches and technology coordinators meet to finalize the presentation for initial orientation. During this meeting I would present a FASTT Math overview PowerPoint to the math coaches and technology coordinators and request any feedback for any revisions for the final version that would be presented to the math teachers.

Once completed, the PowerPoint would be emailed to each presenter and the math supervisor would assign the dates for initial training for each school. Prior to initial training, I would launch our district's FASTT Math webpage that hosts our FASTT Math instructional videos, FASTT Math manual, FASTT Math white paper, link to FASTT Math webpage with additional resources, and discussion board. Therefore, when initial training was provided, teachers would have additional resources available to review. Furthermore, math teachers would have math coaches and technology coordinators in their building for additional support.

Once professional development is conducted, the volunteer groups will begin collecting data. First, the control and treatment groups will complete two pretests utilizing the same 2-minute drills from this study to determine a baseline. The expanded study's cohort treatment group will spend the following six-weeks collecting FAST Math data. At the conclusion of this period, both control and treatment groups will complete a posttest. Data will be analyzed to determine the effectiveness of FASTT Math when compared to traditional instruction. Data analysis will be comparable to this current study, but would compare results from a variety of grade levels and on a larger scale. Hopefully, the results from this proposed larger study will increase the generalizability of the findings and make it more likely for the superintendent to mandate the use of FASTT Math in all third through eighth grade mathematics classes.

Assuming student performance gains, a revised white paper will be written and presented to the superintendent. Similarly to the initial policy recommendation, this revised report will provide updated results and timeline. If approved, full-scale professional development can be provided by April, and FASTT Math for all third through eighth grade mathematics classes can begin. During the remaining school year, teachers will be encouraged to use FASTT Math on a consistent basis, tracking student progress, and providing feedback to the math coaches about any concerns or issues that they have. As we move into the 2015-2016 school year, teachers will be provided with additional professional development to ensure proper use.

Beginning in October 2015, district-wide data reports can begin to be conducted providing data that would provide a student's base line score and progress monitoring. Math coaches will provide feedback during their weekly visits to teachers and monthly reports to administration. Once data is collected it can be provided to the data team for further analysis. Follow-up on the discussion regarding underperforming students can be shared with the teacher.

Roles and Responsibilities of Student and Others

It will be my responsibility to make the white paper easily available as well as champion my recommendations. This will be accomplished by uploading a PDF version of the white paper to my school's electronic repository and emailing copies to my school's administrative team and to the district's superintendent. I will need to schedule an appointment with the superintendent to present the highlights of the white paper to ensure this subject receives adequate attention.

As the resident expert on conducting analysis of the use of the FASTT Math program, it will be my responsibility to accurately and responsibly communicate the findings of the additional data collection and analyses. It will also be my responsibility to provide adequate training and assistance to the math coaches and technology coordinators.

The roles and responsibilities of implementing the policy changes would be far and wide. All students in all third through eighth grades would have the responsibility to practice FASTT Math on a regular if not daily basis. Teachers would have the role to manage student accounts and monitor students progress. Math coaches would be required to monitor student usage and to review FASTT Math reports. The math coaches and technology coordinators would be required to provide professional development for teachers. Lastly, the math coaches and technology coordinators would be required to participate on the data team to analyze the data to determine the impact FASTT Math has on student achievement.

Project Evaluation

The policy recommendation in the form of a white paper presents the research, findings, conclusions and recommendations from my study on the effect of CAI on math fact fluency. In addition, the policy recommendations support the continued use and further implementation of the FASTT Math application. The white paper provides explicit information to the superintendent pertaining to FASTT Math and its effect on student achievement. The overall goal is to implement recommendations that will increase student achievement in mathematics based on the study's findings; these recommendations have been authored with the help of math teachers in my school.

The white paper presents the theoretical framework and related theories that discuss the relationship between math fact fluency and higher-level achievement. It also presents support for the use of CAI as an efficient and effective delivery method for improving math fact fluency and some strategies that could enhance math classes via CAI, and thus address student deficiencies in automaticity. The goal of including research in the white paper is to educate stakeholders about the topic of math fact fluency and CAI.

Personally, I would consider the policy recommendation a success if FASTT Math begins to play a more integral role in elementary and middle school math classrooms, but a more thorough evaluation is required. The evaluation of this project can be measured using two different data sources. First, an initial assessment is completed the first time a student uses FASTT Math. This initial assessment will be compared with another assessment completed later in the school year. Ideally this pre and post assessment will correspond with the beginning and ending of an academic school year. The second data source would be student NJ ASK math scores. This is where the data team will be extremely valuable. Student NJ ASK scores in conjunction with FAST Math scores will be analyzed to determine if a correlation exists, and to determine the impact of FASTT Math.

Implications Including Social Change

This research and the resulting policy recommendations in the form of a white paper presents a mathematics curriculum policy recommendation that may provide a path to increased student achievement in mathematics, and concomitant success in other areas, for, as discussed in the introduction, mathematical skills are a prerequisite for school achievement and success in the workplace. Research has shown that completion of advanced mathematics courses in high school influences college graduation rates more than any other factor. In turn, students who graduate college are more likely to find a job and will be able to compete at a higher level than those who do not. Therefore, increasing student performance in mathematics is directly connected to success after schooling.

Local Community

The policy recommendation will result in social change at the local level by providing an opportunity for greater student success in mathematics. Students will be able to attain fluency of math facts earlier, which will enable them to focus on more advanced skills. Higher achievement by students may increase student self-esteem and encourage teachers to hold high standards for all students. As student success becomes more widespread, teachers can have confidence that their students have a solid foundation in mathematics. In addition, teachers may be motivated to look for other strategies to improve student learning in other areas. As I have seen many times throughout my career, success is contagious, and has a tremendous impact on morale. Nothing is more detrimental to the psyche of a teacher than working hard everyday with your students, resulting with only very limited success. By increasing student learning in this global way, teacher's self-esteem will be positively affected. This potential shift in

75

beliefs and attitude may help the larger community as students experience greater success. When students perform at higher levels, the relationship between the school and the larger community improves. Parents have greater confidence in the ability of the school to prepare their children and businesses are more likely to employ applicants who were high performers in school.

Far-Reaching

The research and policy recommendation will add to the literature that supports the incorporation of CAI in the classroom. It may spark interest in the use of FASTT Math or other CAI by teachers or administrators in other districts. It may promote additional research that builds upon my current study. Ultimately, the goal of the policy recommendation and resulting white paper is to continue the conversation about increasing student achievement in mathematics.

Conclusion

In this paper, Section 3 outlined the goals, rationale, implementation, and evaluation of the mathematics curriculum policy recommendation presented in the form of a white paper project. The aim of policy recommendation was to change existing mathematics policy that has purchased computer-aided instruction (CAI) in the form of software called FASTT Math, but does not encourage its use. The thought was to promote change by educating and influencing policy makers about the research on math fact fluency as an integral part of mathematical development. That CAI (Cates, 2005; L. Graham et al., 2007; Tienken & Wilson, 2007; Wong & Evans, 2007) has been shown to be an effective way to develop this fluency. In fact, based on the results of this study, adding a FASTT Math session was more effective in developing math fact fluency with sixth-grade students than traditional instruction alone. Current literature included research and theories that guided the development of the policy recommendation related to math fact fluency and CAI. The final part of this section discussed potential implementation of the white paper (Appendix A) and its ability to impact social change. In Section 4, I will reflect on the project, my conclusions, and discuss future research.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

Introduction

The primary purpose of this study was to determine if the use of CAI, specifically FASTT Math, would show greater rates of growth for students mastering their basic math facts than traditional instruction alone. In this section, I will present my reflections and conclusions on this quantitative, quasi-experimental study on math fact fluency. In addition, I will address the strengths and limitations of the proposed mathematics curriculum policy recommendation based on the findings of the study. This section also includes reflections on my role as a scholar, suggestions for further research, and the implications for social change.

Project Strengths

The study and project are relevant because poor mathematics performance has implications that go well beyond schooling. As discussed in section 1, mathematics performance in high school is the leading indicator for college graduation (Adelman & Office of Vocational and Adult Education, 2006), which has a direct correlation with career prospects (Dohm & Shniper, 2007). Therefore, making strides to increase student mathematics performance is of paramount importance (NMAP, 2008).

The strength of the study was that it studied one particular skill, at one grade level, in one school. A narrow scope made it possible to isolate math fact fluency, in this case multiplication, and determine if the treatment was effective. This limited the number of factors—for example, different SES levels would make it hard to compare math fluency overall. Based on the four genres available for project development, a policy

recommendation was best suited for my needs. This study's policy recommendations had the following four strengths:

- The policy recommendation provided evidence that the currently owned FASTT math software could produce significant gains for sixth grade students compared to the students in the control sixth grade class.
- 2. The <u>policy recommendation</u> presents research, data, findings, and recommendations that can readily be implemented.
- The <u>recommendations</u> require no additional costs in equipment or personnel and may provide the means for increased student achievement.
- 4. The <u>policy recommendation</u> may serve as an example for further research and data collection within the school and district.

Recommendations for Remediation of Limitations

The study's main limitation was the sample size: 20 students in a control group and 20 students in a treatment group. While the limited focus of the study was a strength, the limited sample size and length of study were limitations. I would recommend collecting additional data to support a mandate so that the district would be able to collect and analyze data from over 2,000 students, students who would be tracked from year to year.

The primary limitation of the policy recommendation was my inability to predict if the recommendations will be implemented. While I will attempt to meet with the district's superintendent and discuss and promote the changes to policy, I am unable to foretell the outcome of that meeting to determine if the superintendent is not convinced or does not want to pursue this endeavor.

There is the possibility that a few teachers might be willing to collect some additional data to further the movement. I may not be able to do the additional work necessary to ensure that FASTT Math usage is mandated, although it does not mean that it cannot be implemented to some level of capacity. FASTT Math is a district purchased and approved application for use in all third through eighth grade mathematics classrooms. Therefore, teachers can still be encouraged to implement its use even if it is not mandated. I would email my pdf white paper with an email encouraging use of the FASTT Math, offering to come meet with them one-to-one or in small groups if they wanted me to demonstrate it's use. This is often a person's primary hurdle for trying something new, the need for someone to show him or her first. They need a teacher!

As discussed in Section 3, Walden University accepts four genres for project development that include an evaluation report, a curriculum plan, a professional development plan, or policy recommendation with detail. An alternative approach to address the problem of inadequate FASTT Math usage could simply focus on professional development. If teachers are convinced that this application increases student math fact fluency more effectively than traditional instruction they may implement FASTT Math with fidelity without a policy mandate. By ensuring appropriate professional development and continual support, this route could prove successful.

Scholarship

Traditionally, academic scholarship has been defined as the discovery of new knowledge acquired through the process of research (Simpson, Meurer, & Braza, 2012).

If this is so, then my doctoral journey at Walden University has been an exercise in scholarship. This journey has been a challenging, yet rewarding experience. During this time, I have had to work incessantly on improving my writing. I had to spend many hours working on repeated rewrites of my proposal and final paper with the assistance of my committee and Walden's Writing Center. As time went on, fewer changes were required and my paper began to take shape. While I still need to work on my craft, some growth has developed.

Another area I have seen growth is my ability to read, interpret and conduct research. Prior to entering this program, I would accept many things on face value. If I read a strategy in a teaching guide I would accept it as a best practice. Now, I question most things I read and seek to find resources to either support or disprove any claims. I rely less on feelings, or what others are practicing, but look for empirical evidence to ascertain why I do what I do, as an educator. Furthermore, during this program I have learned how to effectively read peer-reviewed journal articles and actually understand their findings. This skill has proven vital throughout this research process and will prove indispensable to me in the future.

In addition to learning how to consume and produce research, I have learned how to put this research into action. Through the development of the policy recommendation, I am attempting to affect change to increase student mathematics performance, which may have far reaching implications for those students after schooling. If this policy recommendation is adopted, I might be partially responsible for improving more lives district wide than I ever could in a single classroom or school in an entire career.

Project Development and Evaluation

Project development and evaluation took a lot of time and consideration. First, I needed to focus on a topic that would be deemed acceptable by Walden University. The process started with a few very broad ideas, but began to become more manageable after discussing many ideas with colleagues and with my committee chair. Finally, I settled on the effectiveness of CAI on math fact fluency. After completing some initial research, I was convinced that this very narrow area of mathematical skill had an exponential impact on student achievement. This led me to pursue this topic further and conduct this study.

Once the study was completed and the data was analyzed, I needed to determine the best way to convey the findings so that my study could do more than simply earn me a degree. What type of project could take the recommendations of the study and cause action? After some research, I concluded that developing a policy recommendation would be that project. My project went through multiple rewrites and revisions until I was satisfied with the final product. The final evaluation will occur after the superintendent determines if and when she approves the recommendations suggested. Once implemented, data tracking will occur. Initial student usage will provide a baseline for student performance. As participation continues, student usage and progress will be monitored. At the end of the academic year, student performance can be compared with their baseline data to determine the level of growth. This will be the primary evaluation tool used to determine FASTT Math's effectiveness. In addition, this data can be compared with state testing results to determine if a relationship exists.

Leadership and Change

In the early days of my career as a teacher, I just wanted to close my door and wished that I were left alone to teach my students on the island I created for myself. It took many years and some maturation to realize that this isolationist thinking was counterproductive to the greater good. Therefore, I began to visit other classrooms, observing different teachers with different teaching styles, and we began an exchange of thoughts and ideas. At this point in my career, I began to feel revitalized with the desire to improve my craft. I wanted to be part of the larger school community and volunteered on a variety of school committees. Although I was interested, and though I had some valuable insight to offer, I was clearly not yet prepared to take a leadership role within my school. This realization sparked my interest to further my education and eventually influenced me to enroll into Walden University's doctoral program.

During my time at Walden, I have gained considerable knowledge pertaining to various topics within the field of education, which has increased my ability to contribute at the local level. For example, while completing research for my study, I learned about the "math wars" that occurred during the 1990's. Before I began my research I was unaware that there were competing trends in math education at that time. I have learned that the field of education is constantly changing and there are always competing theories, pedagogies, and practices that influence the how's and what's that are taught. While this is good, it is imperative that there are stakeholders within each school and school district who are current on these topics to ensure that best practices are adopted. I now believe that I am worthy to be one of those stakeholders in my school, and possibly school district. With the development of the policy recommendation, I had an opportunity to be a change agent. My efforts could result with the routine integration of a math program that will have a positive impact on student achievement. My goal was to provide actionable recommendations to my district's superintendent that could be implemented quickly and without any additional financial obligations.

Analysis of Self as Scholar

When I began my doctoral journey, I was not confident in my ability to interpret or conduct research. But over the last few years I have read critically over 200 articles in peer-reviewed journals as well as several books in the field of education. As a scholar, I have learned how to critically analyze these articles and other texts in order to develop the foundation for my study. Each piece of new knowledge influenced the body of knowledge that existed before and either solidified or altered my belief held at that time. One thing that this program has taught me is that the journey to become a scholar is never ending. As we read, write, and converse with others in the field, we continue to learn. To become a scholar is to be a lifelong learner.

Analysis of Self as Practitioner

It is my belief that all teachers are practitioners in the field of education. But, most teachers do not have the opportunity to share their expertise outside their classrooms. In my current position, as my school's technology coordinator, I have the unique opportunity to work with students and staff in a variety of situations. I provide professional development to staff in some instances, work on cross-curricular projects with teachers and their students, and in some instances work with students independently. Within this role, I am able to observe teacher practice throughout my school. In addition, I am able to provide advice to teachers in a variety of settings. In this way, I am able to assist teachers and encourage a collaborative school environment.

With regards to research, I am a practitioner through this undertaking. By conducting a research study and policy recommendation discussing the effectiveness of CAI on math fact fluency, I am adding to the body of research literature. I am confident that this will not be my last research venture . Actually, my study begs for additional research that I hope is pursued, whether or not the policy recommendation is adopted.

Analysis of Self as Project Developer

The project was the result of a process that began with a proposal for research. The proposal was built around a problem, which created the foundation for my research. First, I needed to determine if my problem was actually a real problem. Then I needed to develop my theoretical framework that shaped the parameters of my research. More research was necessary in order to craft the methodology and once satisfying IRB requirements, data collection occurred. At completion, data analysis ensued with the goal of providing valid and reliable results with the utmost of integrity.

One of the major challenges developing the project was to present the findings in a way that could be easily understood by someone who was unfamiliar with research. This was very time consuming and took a lot of effort. In the end, developing the policy recommendation was fulfilling because it gave me the opportunity to offer policy changes that may contribute toward social change in my school district. Ultimately, these recommendations if implemented can have a positive effect on students' mathematics achievement.

The Project's Potential Impact on Social Change

This project contributed to the body of literature surrounding the effectiveness of CAI on increasing math fact fluency. As mathematics achievement continues to be a concern at the local and national level, schools will need continual guidance to find solutions that not only mitigate this problem but also can do so in a timely and practical manner. This study served as a means to this end. Not only does this project produce findings that support increased student achievement, but also provides mathematics curriculum policy recommendations that can be easily implemented and are aligned with the current district's curriculum. In addition, this project served as an example of the type of research that can be conducted within one school at the local level that can promote change throughout the entire school district. As student mathematical achievement improves, greater opportunities for these students will emerge.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

The purpose of my study was to determine the effectiveness of CAI on math fact fluency. More specifically, would CAI be more or less effective than traditional instruction to increase student math fact fluency. The findings of my study concluded that students who worked with FASTT Math demonstrated statistically significant better results than those students who received traditional instruction. These findings provided needed insight as my district looks for ways to increase student achievement in mathematics.

Results of my study and recommendations presented in the policy recommendation will provide the superintendent with needed research and data to assist with making decisions pertaining to the direction the district will take with regards to curriculum implementation. It is my hope that I will be able to meet with the superintendent in order to discuss the contents of the policy recommendation and assist with putting the recommendations into action.

Recommendations for future research would be to recreate my study on a larger scale, and then a much larger scale. As part of the recommendations from the white paper, I suggested that FASTT Math be incorporated routinely into mathematics class for all classrooms grades third through eighth district-wide. Primarily, I recommend using FASTT Math as a center or station, for ten minutes a day for at least three days a week. Student usage and performance would be tracked and analyzed to determine the effectiveness of the program. In contrast to the small size of my initial study, a future study could include approximately 2000 students. This would increase the generalizability of the findings significantly. In addition, this data could be compared to NJ ASK data to analyze the level of student growth on our standardized tests.

Conclusion

Section 4 focused on the reflection of the project and its development. Within this section I have discussed the projects strengths, limitations, and recommendations for remediation of the limitations. The implications of this project may provide the foundation for lasting results that will increase student achievement in mathematics. This section also included my reflections on my own thoughts about scholarship, project development, evaluation, leadership, change, self as a scholar, practitioner, and implications that may affect social change.

Finally, this section enabled me to reflect on my doctoral journey. During this period I have grown as researcher and writer and have expanded my view of what it

87

means to be a scholar practitioner. This journey has provided me with the opportunity to gain valuable insight into how students learn and produce findings from research that can have a direct impact on student success. By completing this project I have become an agent of change at my school and local community. As I continue to learn and grow, I hope to continue working for the common good.

- Adelman, C. (2006). The Toolbox Revisited: Paths to Degree Completion From High School Through College. US Department of Education. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/research/pubs/toolboxrevisit/toolbox.pdf
- Aleven, V., Kay, J., Arroyo, I., Royer, J. M., & Woolf, B. P. (2011). Using an intelligent tutor and math fluency training to improve math performance. *International Journal of Artificial Intelligence in Education*, 21(1/2), 135–152. doi: 10.3233/JAI-2011-020
- Allison, E., Besser, L., Campsen, L, Cordova, J., Doubek, B., Gregg, L. ... White, M.(2010). *Data teams: The big picture*. Englewood, CO: Lead+ Learn Press.

Anderson, J. E. (2014). Public policymaking. Cengage Learning.

- Au, W. (2011). Teaching under the new Taylorism: High-stakes testing and the standardization of the 21st century curriculum. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 43(1), 25–45.
- Axtell, P. K., McCallum, R. S., Mee Bell, S., & Poncy, B. (2009). Developing math automaticity using a classwide fluency building procedure for middle school students: A preliminary study. *Psychology in the Schools*, 46(6), 526–538.
- Baroody, A., Bajwa, N., & Eiland, M. (2009). Why can't Johnny remember the basic facts? *Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 15(1), 69–79. doi:10.1002/ddrr.45
- Barrow, L., Markman, L., & Rouse, C. E. (2008). Technology's edge: The educational benefits of computer-aided instruction (No. w14240). National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w14240

- Bloom, B. S. (1971). Mastery learning. In J. H. Block (Ed.), *Mastery learning: Theory and practice* (pp. 47–64). New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Burns, M. K., Codding, R. S., Boice, C. H., & Lukito, G. (2010). Meta-Analysis of Acquisition and Fluency Math Interventions With Instructional and Frustration Level Skills: Evidence for a Skill-by-Treatment Interaction. *School Psychology Review*, 39(1), 69–83.

Burns, M. (2007). Nine ways to catch kids up. Educational Leadership, 65(3), 16-21.

- Campuzano, L., Dynarski, M., Agodini, R., & Rall, K. (2009). Effectiveness of Reading and Mathematics Software Products: Findings From Two Student Cohorts. NCEE 2009-4041. *National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance*. Retieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED504657
- Canright Marketing Reports. (2011). *White Paper Basics: The Dos, Don'ts, Whys, Whats, and Hows of White Papers* [White paper]. Retrieved from http://www.canrightcommunications.com/samples/Canright_WhitePaperBasics.p df.
- Carnevale, A. P., Jayasundera, T., & Hanson, A. R. (2012). Career and technical education: five ways that pay along the way to the BA. *Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce*. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/?id=ED535321
- Cates, G. L. (2005). Effects of peer versus computer-assisted drill on mathematics response rates. *Psychology in the Schools*, *42*(6), 637–646.

Cheung, A. C., & Slavin, R. E. (2013). The effectiveness of educational technology

applications for enhancing mathematics achievement in K-12 classrooms: A meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review*, *9*, 88-113. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1747938X13000031

- Clift, V. (1999). White paper can mean greenbacks for your firm. *Marketing News*, *33*(2), 5–5.
- Crawford, D. (2003). Mastering math facts. Retrieved July 10, 2012, from www.ocisems.com/ContentHTML/pdfs/MMFSupport.pdf
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Cumming, J. J., & Elkins, J. (1999). Lack of Automaticity in the Basic Addition Facts as a Characteristic of Arithmetic Learning Problems and Instructional Needs. *Mathematical Cognition*, 5(2), 149–80.
- Department of Education (ED). (2008). A Nation Accountable: Twenty-Five Years after "A Nation at Risk." US Department of Education. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/research/pubs/accountable/accountable.pdf
- Dohm, A., & Shniper, L. (2007). Occupational employment projection to 2016. *Monthly Labor Review*, *130*(11), 86–125.

Doyle, S. (2010). How to write a policy recommendation. English 302: Writing for Government. Retrieved from

http://web.uvic.ca/~sdoyle/E302/Notes/Policy%20Recommendation.html

- Gagne, R. M. (1970). *The Conditions of Learning* (2nd ed.). New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Gagne, R. (1983). Some Issues in the Psychology of Mathematics Instruction. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, *14*(1), 7–18.
- Gall, J., Gall, M., & Borg, W. (2010). *Applying educational research: How to read, do, and use research to solve problems of practice* (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Gallimore, R., Ermeling, B. A., Saunders, W. M., & Goldenberg, C. (2009). Moving the Learning of Teaching Closer to Practice: Teacher Education Implications of School-Based Inquiry Teams. *Elementary School Journal*, 109(5), 537-553.
- Gatti, G., & Petrochenkov, K. (2010). Pearson SuccessMaker Math efficacy study: 2009-2010 final report. Retrieved from www.pearsoned.com/wp.../envisionmathefficacy-report-year-2.pdf
- Gersten, R., Beckmann, S., Clarke, B., Foegen, A., Marsh, L., Star, J. R., Witzel, B., et al. (2009). Assisting Students Struggling with Mathematics: Response to Intervention (RtI) for Elementary and Middle Schools. NCEE 2009-4060. What Works Clearinghouse. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED504995
- Goe, L., Biggers, K., Croft, A., & National Comprehensive Center for Teacher, Q.
 (2012). Linking Teacher Evaluation to Professional Development: Focusing on Improving Teaching and Learning. Research & Policy Brief. *National Comprehensive Center For Teacher Quality*. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED532775
- Gordon & Gordon. (2003). *The Art of the White Paper* [White paper]. Retrieved from http://www.gordonandgordon.com/downloads/art_of_the_white_paper_2003.pdf

- Graham, L., Bellert, A., Thomas, J., & Pegg, J. (2007). QuickSmart: a basic academic skills intervention for middle school students with learning difficulties. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 40(5), 410–419.
- Graham, G. (2013). White papers for dummies. Hoboken, N.J.: John Wiley.

Gray, K., & Harrington, K. (2011). Creating Successful Elementary School Data Teams. *Creating Successful Elementary School Data Teams*, 22. doi:10.1037/e518332012-001. Retrieved from http://www.umass.edu/schoolcounseling/uploads/ASCA%202011%20Agawam% 20Power%20Point.pdf

- Haapaniemi, P. (2010). Page Refresh: b2b Marketers Rethink the White Paper. *Min's* B2B, 13(44), 6–6.
- Hancock, D. R., & Algozzine, B. (2006). Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers. Teachers College Press.
- Hasselbring, T. S., Lott, A. C., & Sydney, J. M. (2006). Technology-supported math instruction for students with disabilities: Two decades of research and development. Washington, DC: CITEd, Center for Implementing Technology in Education.
- Haring, N. G., & Eaton, M. D. (1978). Systematic instructional procedures: An instructional hierarchy. In N. G. Haring, T. C. Lovitt, M.D. Eaton, & C. L. Hansen (Eds.), *The fourth R: Research in the classroom* (p. 23-40). Columbus, OH: Charles E. Merrill Publishing Company.
- Hyland, M. R., Pinto-Zipp, G., Olson, V., & Lichtman, S. W. (2010). A Comparative Analysis of Computer-Assisted Instruction and Traditional Lecture Instruction for

Administration and Management Topics in Physical Therapy Education. *Journal* of College Teaching & Learning, 7(7), 1–14.

Juvonen, J., Le, V., Kaganoff, T., Augustine, C., Constant, L. (2004). Focus on the Wonder Years: Challenges Facing the American Middle School.Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation Retrieved from http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/monographs/2004/RAND_MG139.p df

- Kantor, Jonathan. (2010). Crafting White Paper 2.0: Designing Information for Today's Time and Attention-challenged Business Reader.
- Kraft, M. E., & Furlong, S. R. (2012). *Public policy: Politics, analysis, and alternatives*. Cq Press.
- Kroesbergen, E. H., & Van Luit, J. E. H. (2003). Mathematics interventions for children with special educational needs: A meta-analysis. *Remedial and Special Education*, 24(2), 97–114.
- Lawton, S. B. (2012). State Education Policy Formation: The Case of Arizona's English Language Learner Legislation. *American Journal Of Education*, *118*(4), 455-487.
- Li, Q., & Ma, X. (2010). A Meta-analysis of the Effects of Computer Technology on School Students' Mathematics Learning. *Educational Psychology Review*, 22(3), 215–243. doi:10.1007/s10648-010-9125-8
- Lipshitz, R., Popper, M., and Friedman. V. (2007). *Demystifying Organizational Learning*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Lodico, M. G., Spaulding, D. T., & Voegtle, K. H. (2010). Methods in Educational

Research : From Theory to Practice (2nd Edition). Hoboken, NJ, USA: Jossey-Bass.

Loveless, T. (2003). Trends in MATH. Brookings Review, 21(4), 40–43.

- Martindale, T., Pearson, C., Curda, L., & Pilcher, J. (2005). Effects of an online instructional application on reading and mathematics standardized test scores.
 Journal of research on technology in education, 37(4), 349–360.
- McCoy, A. C., Joann Barnett, & Emily Combs. (2013). *High-yield Routines for Grades K-8*. Reston, VA: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM).
- McGuinn, P. (2014). Presidential Policymaking: Race to the Top, Executive Power, and the Obama Education Agenda. *Forum (2194-6183)*, *12*(1), 61-79. doi:10.1515/for-2014-0017
- Mizell, H. (2010). *Why professional development matters*. Learning Forward. Oxford, OH: Learning Forward. Retrieved from:

http://learningforward.org/docs/pdf/why_pd_matters_web.pdf?sfvrsn=0

Morris, A. (2011). Student Standardised Testing: Current Practices in OECD Countries and a Literature Review. OECD Education Working Papers, No. 65. OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/studentstandardised-testing_5kg3rp9qbnr6-en

National Center for Education Statistics (ED). (2011). The Nation's Report Card: Mathematics 2011. National Assessment of Educational Progress at Grades 4 and 8. NCES 2012-458. National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/pdf/main2011/2012458.pdf
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2008). The Role of Technology in the Teaching and Learning of Mathematics. Retrieved from http://www.nctm.org/about/content.aspx?id=14233
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics Commission on Standards for School Mathematics. (2008). Curriculum and evaluation standards for school mathematics. NCTM.
- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices (NGA Center) and the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO). (2010). Key points in mathematics. Retrieved July 10, 2012, from http://www.corestandards.org/about-thestandards/key-points-in-mathematics
- National Mathematics Advisory Panel. (2008). Foundations for success: The final report of the National Mathematics Advisory Panel. US Department of

Education.Retrieved from

http://www2.ed.gov/about/bdscomm/list/mathpanel/report/final-report.pdf

- New Jersey Department of Education. (2009). Historical context: Overview of new jersey's statewide testing program. Retrieved January 2, 2012, from http://www.nj.gov/education/assessment/history.shtml
- New Jersey Department of Education. (2010a). Categories of title 1 school improvement. Retrieved January 28, 2012, from

http://www.nj.gov/education/data/title1/cats.htm

New Jersey Department of Education. (2010b). Mathematics - New jersey core curriculum content standards. Retrieved May 23, 2012, from http://www.nj.gov/education/aps/cccs/math/standards.htm

- New Jersey Department of Education. (2010c). District factor grouping system. Retrieved January 5, 2012, from http://www.state.nj.us/education/finance/sf/dfgdesc.shtml
- New Jersey Department of Education. (2012a). New Jersey ASK Technical Report Final 2011. Retrieved from http://www.state.nj.us/education/assessment/es/njask_tech_report11.pdf -

2043.8KB

New Jersey Department of Education. (2012b). New Jersey Assessment of Skills and Knowledge 2011 Technical Report. Retrieved from

www.nj.gov/education/assessment/es/njask_tech_report11.pdf

- New Jersey Department of Education. (2012c, May 31). Department of Education Releases User-Friendly School Report Cards for 2010-11 School Year. Retrieved July 8, 2012, from http://www.state.nj.us/education/news/2012/0531rc.htm
- New Jersey Department of Education. (2013). New jersey report card. Retrieved November 4, 2013, from

http://education.state.nj.us/pr/report.php?sch_name=%28ATLANTIC+CITY%29 +Uptown+School+Complex&cds_id=010110080

New Jersey Department of Education. (2014). NJ School Performance Reports -Interpretive Guide. Retrieved April 30, 2014, from

https://education.state.nj.us/pr/NJSchoolPerformanceInterpretiveGuide.pdf

 Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. (2010). Strong Performers and Successful Reformers in Education: Lessons from PISA for the United States.
 OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/pisa/46623978.pdf
 Piaget, J. (1950). The Psychology of Intelligence. New York: Harcourt, Brace.

- Perry, A. (2011). The *data team experience: A guide for effective meetings*.Englewood, Co: The Leadership and Learning Center.
- Poncy, B, Skinner, C., & Jaspers, K. (2007). Evaluating and Comparing Interventions
 Designed to Enhance Math Fact Accuracy and Fluency: Cover, Copy, and
 Compare Versus Taped Problems. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, *16*(1), 27–37.
- Poncy, B. C., Skinner, C. H., & Axtell, P. K. (2010). An investigation of Detect, Practice, and Repair to remedy math-fact deficits in a group of third-grade students. *Psychology in the Schools*, 47(4), 342–353.
- PR Newswire. (2012). All New FASTT Math® Next Generation Helps Students Achieve Math Fact Fluency, a Critical Component of the Common Core Standards. *Scholastic-FASTT-Math*. Retrieved from http://www.prnewswire.com/newsreleases/all-new-fastt-math-next-generation-helps-students-achieve-math-factfluency-a-critical-component-of-the-common-core-standards-148870515.html

Resendez, M., & Strobel, A. (2009). *A study on the effects of Pearson's 2009 enVisionMATH program:Final Report*. Retrieved from www.pearsoned.com/wp.../envisionmath-efficacy-report-year-2.pdf

- Schechter, C. (2012). The professional learning community as perceived by Israeli school superintendents, principals and teachers. *International Review Of Education / Internationale Zeitschrift Für Erziehungswissenschaft*, 58(6), 717-734.
 doi:10.1007/s11159-012-9327-z
- Scholastic (2014). Retrieved from http://teacher.scholastic.com/mathfact-fluency/fastt-math-next-generation/research

- Schneider, M., Rittle-Johnson, B., & Star, J. R. (2011). Relations among Conceptual Knowledge, Procedural Knowledge, and Procedural Flexibility in Two Samples Differing in Prior Knowledge. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(6), 1525–1538.
- Shinn, M. R. (2007). Identifying students at risk, monitoring performance, and determining eligibility within response to intervention: Research on educational need and benefit from academic intervention. *School Psychology Review 36*(4), 601-617.
- Simpson D, Meurer L, Braza D. Meeting the scholarly project requirement—application of scholarship criteria beyond research. JGrad Med Educ. 2012;4(1);111–112
- Simpson, D., Yarris, L. M., & Carek, P. J. (2013). Defining the scholarly and scholarship common program requirements. *Journal ofGgraduate Medical Education*, 5(4), 539-540.
- Slavin, R. E., & Lake, C. (2008). Effective Programs in Elementary Mathematics: A Best-Evidence Synthesis. *Review of Educational Research*, 78(3), 427–515. doi:10.3102/0034654308317473
- Slavin, R. E., Lake, C., & Groff, C. (2009). Effective Programs in Middle and High School Mathematics: A Best-Evidence Synthesis. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(2), 839–911. doi:10.3102/0034654308330968
- Slavin, Robert E., & Lake, C. (2007). Effective Programs in Elementary Mathematics: A Best-Evidence Synthesis. Version 1.2. Center for Data-Driven Reform in Education. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED527642

- Smith, C. R., Marchand-Martella, N. E., & Martella, R. C. (2011). Assessing the effects of the Rocket Math program with a primary elementary school student at risk for school failure: A case study. (May 5, 2011). Retrieved from http://www.rocketmath.com/uploads/SmithSglSubjStudy.PDF
- Stelzner, M. A. (2010). How to Write a White Paper, A White Paper on White Papers. Stelzner Consulting. Retrieved from www.stelzner.com
- Stelzner, M. A. (2007). Writing white papers : how to capture readers and keep them engaged. Poway, CA.: WhitePaperSource Pub.
- Sutton, J., & Krueger, A. (2002). ED Thoughts: What We Know about Mathematics Teaching and Learning. Aurora, CO: Mid-continent Research for Education and Learning.
- The National Center for Education Statistics. (2011). *School directory information*. Retrieved January 15, 2012, from http://nces.ed.gov/ccd/schoolsearch/school_detail.asp?Search=1&InstName=upto wn+complex&Zip=08401&SchoolType=1&SchoolType=2&SchoolType=3&Sch oolType=4&pecificSchlTypes=all&IncGrade=-1&LoGrade=-1&HiGrade=-

1&ID=340096000022

- Tienken, C. H., & Maher, J. A. (2008). The Influence of Computer-Assisted Instruction on Eighth Grade Mathematics Achievement. *RMLE Online: Research in Middle Level Education*, 32(3), 1–13.
- Tienken, C. H., & Wilson, M. J. (2007). The Impact of Computer Assisted Instruction on Seventh-Grade Students' Mathematics Achievement. *Planning and Changing*, 38(3-4), 181–190.

- U.S. Department of Education No child left behind act of 2001., Pub. L. No. 107-110, 115, Stat. 1425 (2001). Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/index.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2006). Highly qualified teachers for every child. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/nclb/methods/teachers/stateplanfacts.html

U.S. Department of Education. (2011, September 23). Letters from the Education Secretary or Deputy Secretary. Retrieved July 10, 2012, from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/gen/guid/secletter/110923.html

- Van de Walle, J. A, Karp, K. S., & Bay-Williams, J. M. (2010). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally (7th ed.). New York: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Washington State School Directors' A. Serving on Your Local School Board: A Foundation for Success. *Washington State School Directors' Association* [serial online]. January 1, 2011;Available from: ERIC, Ipswich, MA.
- Wijekumar, K., Hitchcock, J., Turner, H., Lei, P., Peck, K., & National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance (ED). (2009). A Multisite Cluster Randomized Trial of the Effects of CompassLearning Odyssey[R] Math on the Math Achievement of Selected Grade 4 Students in the Mid-Atlantic Region. Final Report. NCEE 2009-4068. National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED507314
- Willerton, R. (2013). Teaching White Papers Through Client Projects. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 76(1), 105–113.

Willingham, D. T. (2010). Ask the Cognitive Scientist: Is it true that some people just can't do math? *American Educator*, *35*(2), 14–19,39.

Wilson, C. A. (2016). Public policy: Continuity and change. Waveland Press.

- Wong, M., & Evans, D. (2007). Improving Basic Multiplication Fact Recall for Primary School Students. *Mathematics Education Research Journal*, 19(1), 89–106.
- Woodward, J. (2006). Developing Automaticity in Multiplication Facts: Integrating Strategy Instruction with Timed Practice Drills. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 29(4), 269–289.
- WorksheetWorks. (2012). *Worksheet Works.com*. Retrieved January 27, 2013, from http://www.worksheetworks.com/
- Yuen-kuang Cliff Liao, Huei-wen Chang, & Yu-wen Chen. (2007). Effects of Computer Applications on Elementary School Students' Achievement: A Meta-Analysis of Students in Taiwan. *Computers in the Schools*, 24(3/4), 43–64. doi:Article
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Dibenedetto, M. K. (2008). Mastery learning and assessment: Implications for students and teachers in an era of high-stakes testing. *Psychology in the Schools*, 45(3), 206–216. doi:Article
- Zirkel, P. A., & Thomas, L. B. (2010). State Laws and Guidelines for Implementing RTI. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *43*(1), 60-73.

Appendix A: Project



his white paper provides an overview of research related to math fact fluency and the implementation of computer-aided instruction (CAI). This white paper will also provide recommendations to increase student achievement in mathematics through the use of the application FASTT (Fluency and Automaticity through Systematic Teaching and Technology) Math.

Mathematical skills are an essential prerequisite for school achievement and success in the workplace. Completion of advanced mathematics courses in high school influences college Introduction

Yet, students at the XYZ School are underperforming in mathematics, especially in the middle school grades beginning with grade six. This is due to a poor foundation in basic mathematics that hinders student progression to higher-level mathematics. This is significant because, according to the National Council of Teachers of

Completion of advanced mathematics courses in high school influences college graduation greater than any other factor.

(Adelman & Office of Vocational and Adult Education (ED), 2006)

graduation greater than any other factor (Adelman & Office of Vocational and Adult Education, 2006). Students who complete mathematics classes beyond Algebra II double their chances of earning a bachelor's degree (Adelman et al., 2006). This is important because nearly two-thirds of the fastest growing jobs in the United States will require a bachelor's degree (Dohm & Shniper, 2007). Today, the link between increased education and good jobs is stronger than ever. Over the last thirty years, there has been a marked decline in jobs for high school graduates whereas the prospect for those possessing postsecondary education and training has increased significantly (Carnevale, Jayasundera, Hanson, & Georgetown University, 2012). These findings clearly indicate that mastering mathematical skills have far reaching implications for students beyond schooling.

 $\overline{2}$

Mathematics (NCTM), student's ability to proceed to algebra will be determined by mastering the most critical mathematics skills

and concepts that are introduced in grade six (National Council of Teachers of Mathematics Commission on Standards for School Mathematics, 2008). In other words, sixth grade is an important transitional period moving from focusing on factual and procedural knowledge to more conceptual knowledge. If sixth-grade students do not possess mastery and fluency of their basic math facts, advancement to higher-level mathematics will be negatively impacted.

If sixth-grade students do not possess mastery and fluency of their basic math facts, advancement to higher-level mathematics will be negatively impacted.

Why Does Math fact fluency Matter?

According to the National Mathematics Advisory Panel (2008), students in the United States possess a poor understanding of core arithmetical concepts and lack fluency of complex algorithms, which impedes learning of higher-level mathematics such as algebra. In addition, studies indicate that many U.S. students who lack fluency with single-digit addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division of whole numbers may never gain proficiency. Based on the Common Core state standards for mathematics, by the end of fifth grade, students should have a "solid foundation in whole numbers, addition, subtraction, multiplication, division, fractions and decimals – which help young students build the foundation to successfully apply more demanding math concepts and procedures, and move into

Students who lack fluency with single-digit addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division of whole numbers may never gain proficiency. applications" (National Governors Association Center for Best Practices (NGA Center) and the Council of Chief

This is disturbing given that in order for students to become successful in mathematics; they must become proficient in factual, procedural, and conceptual knowledge (U.S. Department of Education, 2008). Factual knowledge pertains to the ability to recall a small set of mathematical facts from long term memory (i.e. addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division). Procedural knowledge pertains to the steps or rules that must be followed to solve a particular problem (e.g., standard algorithms). Lastly, conceptual knowledge concerns itself with understanding of meaning, answering the question "Why?" in mathematics. The panel argues, "these capabilities are mutually supportive, each facilitating learning of the others" (U.S. Department of Education, 2008, p. 26). If students do not possess the basic foundations of mathematics, how will they be able to perform at the higher levels?

State School Officers (CCSSO), 2010, para. 1). Yet, many students in sixth grade have not achieved factual knowledge. Loveless (2003) found that although students have made progress in mathematics on the NAEP, progress in basic arithmetic has "ground to a halt"(p. 41), indicating a deficiency in either procedural or factual knowledge.



When students posses a foundation in basic math facts, they spend less time working on rudimentary mathematics and more time on higher level thinking. When students gain fluency with their math facts to the point where these facts become automatic,

automaticity occurs. Crawford (2003) defined automaticity with math facts as the ability to answer instantly, without having to stop and think about a response (e.g., $5 \times 6 = 30$). Without such ability, students must compute their response using a variety of counting strategies, likely causing a "high cognitive load as they perform a range of complex tasks" (Woodward, 2006, p. 241). Furthermore, "information-processing theory supports the view that gaining automaticity in math facts is fundamental to success in many areas of mathematics" (Woodward, 2006, p. 269). This theory supports the belief that working memory, also referred to as short-term memory, is limited and can perform only a few tasks at one time. Gagné (1983) stated that this limited working memory is where "problem solving occurs" (p. 15). He continued, "The scarce cognitive resource of attention needs to be devoted to the most intricate and complex part of the task" (p. 15). Thus making an argument for the importance of automaticity of math facts.

"A student who is automatic with basic facts will complete problems at a faster rate and therefore is likely to have more opportunities to respond (i.e., practice trials), which can enhance accuracy, fluency, and maintenance" (Poncy, Skinner, & Jaspers, 2007, p. 27). While automaticity pertains to the speed of a skills performance with minimal thinking, fluency pertains to the speed and accuracy of performing a particular skill. For example, to be fluent in

multiplying multi-digit numbers, one has to know automatically the fact that 7 x 8 = 56. As students learn a new skill, they will become increasingly fluent until automaticity is achieved (Axtell, McCallum, Mee Bell, & Poncy, 2009). Students who attain a level of fluency may possess less math

4

anxiety and therefore be more likely to complete assigned tasks (Poncy, Skinner, & Axtell, 2010). Furthermore, evidence suggests that increasing students' accuracy and speed of basic math facts is crucial for developing and mastering more advanced math skills (Poncy, Skinner, & Jaspers, 2007).



what does the research say about math fact fluency?

Evidence suggests that increasing students' accuracy and speed of basic math facts is crucial for developing and mastering more advanced math skills (Poncy, Skinner, & Jaspers, 2007). The position of The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM) is that "Technology is an essential tool for learning mathematics in the 21st century, and all schools must ensure that all their students have access to technology" (National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, 2008, p. 1). Born out of the works of Skinner in the 1960's with his teaching machines, educators have long attempted to develop ways for technology to deliver effective individualized instruction. In years past that may have meant using a machine and punch cards, while today one might use a web-based application that is streamed to a computer through the Internet. But the goal remains the same. Cates (2005) stated "computerassisted instruction emphasizes the importance of the completion of numerous antecedent-behaviorconsequence learning trials" (p. 638), supporting the belief that CAI is an effective and efficient teaching

The National Mathematics Advisory Panel (NMAP) found "instructional software has generally shown positive effects on students' achievement in mathematics as compared with instruction that does not incorporate such technologies" (Department of Education, 2008, p. 50). It is recommended that high-quality CAI drill and practice should be implemented with fidelity and was a useful tool for developing automaticity.

method.

Based on the findings of the meta-analysis studies, CAI has been found to show a positive effect on student mathematical achievement. The results have shown that the use of CAI is most effective when used at the elementary level and incorporated practice.

What does the research say about computer-aided instruction (CAI)?

"Technology is an essential tool for learning mathematics in the 21st century, and all schools must ensure that all their students have access to technology" (National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, 2008, p. 1).



Foundations of FASTT Math

According to NMAP (2008), a computational fluency foundation can be obtained only after students can quickly and accurately recall basic math facts and become familiar with number operations. With this foundation, computational fluency is achieved through meaningful practice that involves developing and strengthening relationships of number combinations (Hasselbring, Lott, & Sydney, 2006). If students do not develop math fact fluency, this will have a negative impact on their future development (Hasselbring et al., 2006) as well as development of higher-order math skills (Loveless 2003).

FASTT Math targets instruction and practice to build declarative or factual knowledge. This is important because students who struggle with developing mathematical ideas need instruction that aids them in strengthening their understanding of fundamental mathematical ideas (Burns, 2007). Developing automatic reasoning strategies should be the primary focus of basic math facts practice and not isolated facts drills, which are ineffective and may hinder purposeful practice (Baroody, 2009, Hasselbring et al., 2006). For this reason, FASTT Math adds new facts only after the student is consistently able to retrieve the answer to the fact. In addition, only a small set of new facts are added to studied facts in any given session.

FASTT Math links numbers to optimize memory. The development of math fact fluency provides the foundation for higherorder computation and estimation. Automaticity demonstrates the transfer of basic math facts knowledge from working to long-term memory, thus providing the foundation for more advanced computation and estimation abilities (Baroody, 2009). FASTT Math requires that students type each newly introduced fact such as $7 \times 3 =$ 21, rather than simply typing the answer 21. By doing this, a connection is made between the entire problem to promote retention to long-term memory.

Many computer programs that support number development have the ability to provide immediate feedback to users. This has allowed students to work on their weaknesses in number combinations at their own pace (Van de Walle et al., 2010). The NMAP (2008) have recommended the use of CAI to assist children in the development of fact fluency and automaticity. In addition, the use of gaming environment allows students multiple opportunities to think strategically and gain additional practice with their learned facts.

Why FASTT Math?

- Easy to Implement
- Aligned to the Common Core State Standards
- Built on "Best Practices"
- Already a District Resource
- Integrates Technology
- Proven Results

A research study was completed during the 2013-2014 school year, at XYZ School to determine if FASTT Math was more effective than traditional instruction to increase student math fact fluency. The research focused on two instructional groups of sixth grade students. The control group received traditional based mathematics instruction, while the treatment group used FASTT Math application for mathematics. The purpose of this study was to determine if CAI is an effective method to develop math fact fluency as compared to traditional instruction. The quasi-experimental study included 40 sixth grade students and one teacher over a three-week period. Instruction focused on math fact fluency, specifically multiplication fluency.

Research Study

The number of multiplication items answered correctly during multiple two-minute drills was used to measure basic multiplication fact recall. The multiplication pretests contain 80 random multiplication problems chosen from 0 to 12 multiplication tables. The tests were generated using WorksheetWorks (2012), a program available from the Internet, which is commonly used

	Pretest Knowledge	Treatment	Posttest Knowledge
Experimental			
Group	O_1	Х	O_2
Control			
Group	O3		O_4

Modified Quasi-Experimental Nonequivalent Control-Group Pretest-Posttest Design. Where: $O_1, O_3 =$ the observation of mathematics achievement pretest, $O_2, O_4 =$ the observation of mathematics achievement posttest. X= is FASTT Math

by the school's classroom teachers. The posttest was developed using the same worksheet generator. The total number of correct responses on each of the two-minute

drills provided the student's score, with 80 being the highest score possible. Higher scores indicate an increased level of mastery and fluency in multiplication. The results from the pretest and posttest were analyzed for performance change. The performance change for the experimental group (O_2 - O_1) and control group (O_4 - O_3) were compared to determine if differences exist. The raw data and results are provided here in the form of charts and graphs.



Research Findings

The results were analyzed determining that there was a significant change in performance when comparing the results from the pre/post tests, as well as the difference between the treatment and control groups. As indicated by the Two Minute Drill Performance chart on the previous page, both groups obtained increased math fact fluency during the study. As



indicated on the Performance Gains Chart, the FASTT Math group increased by an approximate average of 11 additional correct items on the two-minute drill posttest and the traditional instruction group increased by an average of 4 additional correct items on the two-minute drill posttest. This difference was determined to be statistically significant when evaluated using analysis of variance (ANOVA).

Results of this study indicated a significant statistical improvement for those students who used FASTT Math

instruction over traditional instruction. The students who practiced math facts using FASTT Math demonstrated a higher level of math fact fluency on a two-minute drill than students using traditional methods. As noted by the Average Percentage Increase Chart, students who used FASTT Math averaged a 20% increase on the two-minute drill over their pretest scores. Hopefully, the results from this study will provide some insight to improving student achievement in mathematics, as well as, promote further research into the effectiveness of CAI.

8



Current Policy

FASTT Math was purchased and sanctioned for use by the school district for third through eighth grades, but does not have a mandate for use. Based on usage reports, FASTT Math is used by few students and is not used with fidelity. Since the findings of this report indicated that implementing FASTT Math is an effective method to increase student mathematics achievement, a change in current policy is requested. Below you will find my proposed changes.

Policy Recommendations

Recommendation 1:

Initiate a larger district-wide study to provide further evidence at additional grade levels for the district to justify a mandate for FASTT Math implementation. If supported by the findings, incorporate the use of FASTT Math in all third through eighth grade mathematics classes to teach new skills as well as reinforce skills previously taught, by designating FASTT Math as a center for 10-minutes during mathematics class at least three times per week.

Recommendation 2:

Provide professional development (PD) for teachers in order to manage student enrollment, monitor student progress, and use data to drive instruction.

Recommendation 3:

Expand current data teams in each school to review FASTT Math reports from each student and compare this information with other types of data in order to create a student profile. By tracking data from multiple sources, we will be able to determine the success of implementing FASTT Math and its impact on further student achievement.

Recommendation 1:

The first recommendation suggests conducting further research in order to justify incorporating the use of FASTT Math in all third through eighth grades as part of the regular mathematics classes to teach new skills as well as reinforce skills previously taught by designating FASTT Math as a center for small group instruction for 10-minutes during math class at least three times per week.

NMAP (2008) warned that most curricula in the United States did not provide sufficient practice of basic math facts to ensure fluency and recommends that high quality CAI drill and practice, implemented with fidelity, be considered as a useful tool in developing students' automaticity, freeing working memory so that attention can be devoted to the more conceptual aspects of complex tasks. By incorporating FASTT Math consistently, student math fact fluency will increase. Furthermore, McCoy, Barnett, & Combs (2013) stated that consistent use of routines can yield organizational and academic benefits for students.

FASTT Math focuses on building math fact fluency of whole numbers using all four mathematical operations. The Common Core State Standards (CCSS) indicates the importance of student fluency with basic math facts. Developing fluency with whole number operations is a critical area of focus in elementary grades, while upper grade level standards build upon this foundation. NMAP (2008) declared that students should have a grasp of basic math fact by the end of fifth or sixth grade. The Institute of Education Science (IES) recommends that interventions at all grades should devote about 10-minutes in each class to building fluent retrieval of arithmetic facts. This 10-minute period provides continual practice so students can maintain fluency and proficiency, as well as acquire new facts. Many school districts have started using Response-to-Intervention (Rtl) as the way to enhance student learning in general education classes (Zirkel & Thomas, 2010). This approach required the use of several levels of instructional interventions as the way to support struggling learners in regular education classes. The steps involved with Rtl include: evaluating each student to determine their instructional needs, followed by high quality interventions, and finally determining an effective way to evaluate student progress (Zirkel & Thomas, 2010).

As part of the FASTT Math program, each student completes an initial program evaluation to determine their skill deficiencies and is placed on a learning path individually based on their performance. Teachers can monitor student progress through the use of FASTT Math reports. Rtl guidelines suggested that students who demonstrated academic improvements should continue receiving instructional support in regular education classes (Shinn, 2007).

Recommendation **2**:

The second recommendation is to provide professional development (PD) for teachers in order to manage student enrollment, monitor student progress, use data to drive instruction.

According to Mizell (2010) ongoing professional development, "creates a culture of learning throughout the school and supports educators' efforts to engage students in learning" (p. 18). Mizell continued, professional development provides the means for teachers to learn about how their students learn, and how the teacher's instruction can increase student learning. According to Schechter (2012), to continue to be up to date with educational reforms, teachers must be provided ways to develop and increase their knowledge and abilities. School leadership must present purposeful effort to improve and nurture existing teacher knowledge by creating an environment that encourages teamwork and collaboration among colleagues (Lipshitz, Friedman, & Popper, 2007). Recent literature has provided evidence that collaboration among teacher colleagues as well as professional development activities have improved classroom instruction and increased student achievement (Gallimore, Ermeling, Saunders, & Goldenberg, 2009; Schechter, 2012).

Recommendation **3**:

The third recommendation suggests expanding data teams in each school to review FASTT Math reports from each student and compare this information with other types of data.

By tracking student data from multiple sources, we will be able to determine the success of implementation of FASTT Math and its impact on future learning. According to Allison et al. (2010), Teacher Data Teams are designed to improve teaching, learning, and leadership through combining professional collaboration and decision making based on student data. They help accurately and efficiently choose interventions and program initiatives and determine if they are working (Gray & Harrington, 2011). Data teams are embedded in research and are designed for results.

In the case of FASTT Math, the crucial role of the Data Teams would be to set result indicators and then monitor to see if they are being met.

FASTT Math Integration Plan

STAGE 1: Prepare for the Larger Study (10/14-12/14)

- Email requests for volunteer teachers to evaluate FASTT Math from a variety of grade levels (3-8) and schools across the school district.
- Provide profesional development (PD) for teachers opting to participate in the larger study. This PD will include a face-to-face orientation presentation as well as a handson component to ensure that the teachers are comfortable moving forward
- Continued professional development will be provided on an ongoing basis by the math coaches during their weekly visits, technology coordinators if necessary, and myself as the lead reseacher for this study.

STAGE 2: FASTT Math Study Implementation (1/15-2/15)

- Begin implementation of FASTT Math pretest for treatment and control group.
- Implement FASTT Math in all designated third through eighth grade classrooms for six weeks vs. traditional instruction in all other classrooms.
- Collect Posttest data.

STAGE 3: Data Analysis (3/15)

- Analyze the findings from the larger study to determine if a FASTT Math mandate is warranted.
- If the data supports the use of FASTT Math, revise this white paper and email a PDF copy to the superintendent, administration and staff.

12

STAGE 4: Professional Development for all third through eighth grade Math Teachers (4/15)

- Initial professional development will be provided by math coaches and technology coordinators during a school based professional development meeting.
- Follow-up professional development will be provided on an as needed basis during scheduled math coach meetings with teachers.
- Additional resources will be provided through the district's website. Resources will include FASTT Math training videos, FASTT Math manual, FASTT Math white paper,

STAGE 5: FASTT Math Implementation (5/15 - Ongoing)

• Incorporate the use of FASTT Math in all third through eighth grades as part of the regular mathematics classes to teach new skills as well as reinforce skills previously taught, by designating FASTT Math as a center for small group instruction for 10-minutes during math class at least three times per week.

STAGE 6: Monitoring & Evaluation (10/15 – Ongoing)

- Math coaches will monitor student FASTT Math usage and progress.
- Math coaches will initiate and continue weekly dialog with math teachers regarding FASTT Math implementations.
- Math coaches will collect weekly FASTT Math data and share the results with teachers and collect monthy reports for administrators.
- Math coaches will share FASTT Math data with the existing data teams in each school to review FASTT Math reports from each student and compare this information with other types of data in order to create a student profile. By tracking data from multiple sources, we will be able to determine the success of implementing FASTT Math and its impact on further student achievement.

Conclusions

This white paper offered an overview of research related to the topic of math fact fluency and computer-aided instruction, as well as findings from my study evaluating the effectiveness of the program, FASTT Math. Findings from this study indicated that FASTT Math was more effective than traditional instruction to increase student math fact fluency. Research supports the belief that increased math fact fluency will have a direct effect on future mathematics performance.

Based on the findings of my study, this policy recommendation suggests initiating a larger study to provide further evidence at additional grade levels for the district to justify a mandate for FASTT Math implementation. If supported by the findings, the superintendent can mandate incorporating FASTT Math in all third through eigth grades as part of the regular mathematics classes to teach new skills as well as reinforce skills previously taught, by designating FASTT Math as a center. In conjuntion with implementation, professional development designed by the author will be provided by math coaches and technology coordinators. Lastly, school data teams should be expanded with the purpose of collecting and analyzing data to monitor and evaluate FASTT Math's effectiveness.

REFERENCES

- Adelman, C. (2006). *The Toolbox Revisited: Paths to Degree Completion From High School Through College.* US Department of Education. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/research/pubs/toolboxrevisit/toolbox.pdf
- Allison, E., Besser, L., Campsen, L, Cordova, J., Doubek, B., Gregg, L. ... White, M. (2010). Data teams: The big picture. Englewood, CO: Lead+ Learn Press.
- Axtell, P. K., McCallum, R. S., Mee Bell, S., & Poncy, B. (2009). Developing math automaticity using a classwide fluency building procedure for middle school students: A preliminary study. *Psychology in the Schools*, 46(6), 526–538.
- Baroody, A., Bajwa, N., & Eiland, M. (2009). Why can't Johnny remember the basic facts? Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews, 15(1), 69–79. doi:10.1002/ddr.45
- Burns, M. K., Codding, R. S., Boice, C. H., & Lukito, G. (2010). Meta-Analysis of Acquisition and Fluency Math Interventions With Instructional and Frustration Level Skills: Evidence for a Skill-by-Treatment Interaction. School Psychology Review, 39(1), 69–83.
- Burns, M. (2007). Nine ways to catch kids up. Educational Leadership, 65(3), 16-21.
- Carnevale, A. P., Jayasundera, T., & Hanson, A. R. (2012). Career and technical education: five ways that pay along the way to the BA. *Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce*. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/?id=ED535321
- Cates, G. L. (2005). Effects of peer versus computer-assisted drill on mathematics response rates. *Psychology in the Schools*, 42(6), 637–646.
- Crawford, D. (2003). Mastering math facts. Retrieved July 10, 2012, from www.ocisems.com/ContentHTML/pdfs/MMFSupport.pdf
- Cumming, J. J., & Elkins, J. (1999). Lack of Automaticity in the Basic Addition Facts as a Characteristic of Arithmetic Learning Problems and Instructional Needs. *Mathematical Cognition*, 5(2), 149–80.

- Department of Education (ED). (2008). A Nation Accountable: Twenty-Five Years after "A Nation at Risk." US Department of Education. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/research/pubs/accountable/accountable.pdf
- Dohm, A., & Shniper, L. (2007). Occupational employment projection to 2016. Monthly Labor Review, 130(11), 86–125.
- Gagne, R. M. (1970). The Conditions of Learning (2nd ed.). New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Gray, K., & Harrington, K. (2011). Creating Successful Elementary School Data Teams. Creating Successful Elementary School Data Teams, 22. doi:10.1037/e518332012-001. Retrieved from http://www.umass.edu/schoolcounseling/uploads/ASCA%202011%20Agawam%20Power%20Point.pdf
- Hasselbring, T. S., Lott, A. C., & Sydney, J. M. (2006). Technology-supported math instruction for students with disabilities: Two decades of research and development. Washington, DC: CITEd, Center for Implementing Technology in Education.
- Haring, N. G., & Eaton, M. D. (1978). Systematic instructional procedures: An instructional hierarchy. In N. G. Haring, T. C. Lovitt, M.D. Eaton, & C. L. Hansen (Eds.), *The fourth R: Research in the classroom* (p. 23-40). Columbus, OH: Charles E. Merrill Publishing Company.
- Lodico, M. G., Spaulding, D. T., & Voegtle, K. H. (2010). Methods in Educational Research : From Theory to Practice (2nd Edition). Hoboken, NJ, USA: Jossey-Bass.
- Loveless, T. (2003). Trends in MATH. Brookings Review, 21(4), 40-43.
- Mizell, H. (2010). *Why professional development matters*. Learning Forward. Oxford, OH: Learning Forward. Retrieved from: http://learningforward.org/docs/pdf/why_pd_matters_web.pdf?sfvrsn=0
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics Commission on Standards for School Mathematics. (2008). Curriculum and evaluation standards for school mathematics. NCTM.
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2008). The Role of Technology in the Teaching and Learning of Mathematics. Retrieved from http://www.nctm.org/about/content.aspx?id=14233



Tienken, C. H., & Wilson, M. J. (2007). The Impact of Computer Assisted Instruction on Seventh-Grade Students' Mathematics Achievement. *Planning and Changing*, 38(3-4), 181–190.



- U.S. Department of Education. (2008). Foundations for Success: The Final Report of the National Mathematics Advisory Panel. US Department of Education. Retrieved from <u>http://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric</u> &AN=ED500486&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Van de Walle, J. A, Karp, K. S., & Bay-Williams, J. M. (2010). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally (7th ed.). New York: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Wong, M., & Evans, D. (2007). Improving Basic Multiplication Fact Recall for Primary School Students. Mathematics Education Research Journal, 19(1), 89–106.
- Woodward, J. (2006). Developing Automaticity in Multiplication Facts: Integrating Strategy Instruction with Timed Practice Drills. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 29(4), 269–289.
- WorksheetWorks. (2012). Worksheet Works.com. Retrieved January 27, 2013, from http://www.worksheetworks.com/
- Zirkel, P. A., & Thomas, L. B. (2010). State Laws and Guidelines for Implementing RTI. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 43(1), 60-73.

Appendix B: Worksheet Works Email

Worksheet Works

Worksheets may be used for educational and non-commercial purposes only.

Email Request:

Time: Sun May 05 16:01:43 CDT 2013

Hello,

I am currently working toward implementing a study to determine the effectiveness of a computer-based program to enhance student math fact fluency, specifically - multiplication. I was planning on using your website's multiplication sheets as a timed assessment to determine a student automaticity base line score (pretest) and then a comparative assessment (posttest). I have used these worksheets in class and personally found them very useful. Based on your copyright information posted on the site, I believe that I am complying with the copyright policy. If this is not the case please let me know.

With regards to my study, would you be able to share some information about your site? Would you be able to share the number of times worksheets have been downloaded from your site or any anecdotal information pertaining to the value teacher's have for your product? In addition, would you have any information pertaining to your works and their reliability to measure accuracy.

Thank you for reading my comments, and providing a very useful product.

Joe Bochniak jbochniak@acboe.org

Email Response:

john.s.g.churchill@gmail.com Sunday, May 26, 2013 12:32 PM

Sent to: jbochniak@acboe.org

Hi Joe,

Thanks for the note! I'm glad you're finding the worksheets useful. I have heard of many anecdotes about children who were behind in math suddenly catching up and getting ahead by using our worksheets, but really any would do the job - Kumon included. I've used a variety on my own children. I'm sure there are other cases where they do not work, but people are much less likely to give me any feedback. As to the usage, I can only measure things like the count of worksheets generated, but not actual usage. That number runs to around 50,000 documents across about 15,000 unique users on a busy day, which is predictably highest during school days during U.S. school hours. However that number doesn't say anything about what gets printed and what gets thrown away, and how many prints, if any, are made of any particular document. I do know that schools occasionally print hundreds of copies as take-home work. A directly interactive site such as ixl.com, which can monitor usage down to a per-question basis, probably has some very interesting statistics, including growth of the students. Feel free to let me know if you have any other questions! Regards,

121

Appendix (C: Pretests
------------	-------------

Work Worl	Sheef) K.com	Name:	Math	Facts:	Multi	iplicat	ion
10	12	11	6	11	7	7	6
× 6	× 10	<u>× 4</u>	× 4	<u>× 6</u>	<u>× 12</u>	× 4	× 2
1	7	3	1	4	9	3	5
<u>× 12</u>	×4	×7	<u>× 12</u>	×3	×3	× 6	<u>× 1</u>
4	6	12	1	5	9	3	1
<u>× 1</u>	×6	× 2	<u>×3</u>	<u>×7</u>	<u>×7</u>	×5	<u>× 11</u>
1	9	11	3	10	11	8	7
<u>× 1</u>	×9	<u>× 1</u>	<u>× 1</u>	<u>× 4</u>	<u>× 4</u>	<u>× 6</u>	×9
8	10	8	5	3	10	9	6
× 4	× 9	×9	×2	<u>× 10</u>	× 2	×4	×7
8	5	12	1	3	6	1	2
<u>× 10</u>	<u>× 11</u>	× 9	<u>× 4</u>	×9	×9	<u>×2</u>	×6
4	1	12	7	4	1	5	9
<u>× 1</u>	<u>×4</u>	× 4	<u>× 11</u>	×9	<u>×3</u>	<u>× 1</u>	×2
12	9	4	6	8	2	11	10
<u>× 11</u>	×8	<u>× 11</u>	× 5	<u>× 11</u>	×8	<u>× 3</u>	<u>× 8</u>
9	12	1	11	3	5	3	11
×3	× 10	<u>×2</u>	× 7	<u>× 11</u>	×9	<u>×1</u>	<u>× 5</u>
8	4	11	7	9	4	8	6
× 5	× 6	<u>× 12</u>	×5	<u>× 11</u>	×2	<u>× 7</u>	<u>× 1</u>

Work Worl	sheet ks.com	N	Aath H A	Facts:	Mult E R	iplicat <mark>K E Y</mark>	ion
$\frac{10}{\times 6}{60}$	12 <u>× 10</u> /20	11 × 4 44	6 × 4 24	$\frac{11}{\times 6}$	7 <u>× 12</u> <u>84</u>	7 ×4 28	6 ×2 /2
1 <u>× 12</u> /2	$\frac{7}{\times 4}$	3 ×7 2/	1 <u>× 12</u> /2	$\frac{4}{\times 3}$	9 <u>× 3</u> 27	3 × 6 / 8	5 <u>× 1</u> 5
$\frac{4}{\times 1}$	$\frac{6}{\times 6}{36}$	12 × 2 24	$\frac{1}{\times 3}{3}$	5 × 7 35	9 × 7 63	$\frac{3}{\times 5}$	1 <u>× 11</u> //
$\frac{1}{\times 1}$	9 ×9 8/	11 × 1 //	$\frac{3}{\times 1}{3}$	$\frac{10}{\times 4}{40}$	11 <u>× 4</u> 44	8 × 6 48	$\frac{7}{\times 9}{63}$
$\frac{8}{\times 4}$	10 × 9 90	8 × 9 72	$\frac{5}{\times 2}$	3 × 10 30	10 × 2 20	$\frac{9}{\times 4}$ 36	6 <u>× 7</u> <u>42</u>
8 × 10 80	5 <u>× 11</u> 55	12 × 9 /08	$\frac{1}{\times 4}{4}$	3 ×9 27	6 × 9 54	$\frac{1}{\times 2}$	$\frac{2}{\times 6}$
$\frac{4}{\times 1}$	$\frac{1}{\frac{\times 4}{4}}$	12 × 4 48	7 <u>× 11</u> 77	4 ×9 36	$\frac{1}{\times 3}$	$\frac{5}{\times 1}{5}$	9 ×2 /8
12 <u>× 11</u> /32	9 <u>× 8</u> 72	4 <u>× 11</u> 44	$\frac{6}{\times 5}{30}$	8 <u>× 11</u> 88	2 <u>× 8</u> /6	$\frac{11}{\times 3}{33}$	10 <u>× 8</u> 80
9 <u>× 3</u> 27	12 × 10 /20	$\frac{1}{\times 2}$	11 × 7 77	3 <u>× 11</u> 33	5 × 9 45	$\frac{3}{\times 1}{3}$	11 × 5 55
8 × 5 40	4 × 6 24	11 <u>× 12</u> /32	7 × 5 35	9 <u>× 11</u> <i>99</i>	$\frac{4}{\times 2}{8}$	8 × 7 56	$\frac{6}{\times 1}{6}$

Work Wor	scheet) ks.com	Name: _	Math	Facts:	Multi	plicat	ion
2	10	10	12	10	1	12	3
× 11	<u>× 1</u>	<u>× 3</u>	<u>× 7</u>	<u>× 6</u>	<u>× 10</u>	<u>× 6</u>	<u>×1</u>
11	1	2	8	12	6	11	11
<u>× 4</u>	<u>× 6</u>	×4	<u>× 10</u>	<u>× 11</u>	× 8	<u>× 3</u>	<u>× 1</u>
5	5	10	10	2	12	6	8
<u>× 6</u>	× 9	<u>× 8</u>	<u>× 5</u>	×3	× 3	× 3	<u>× 12</u>
4	6	11	10	6	1	9	8
× 3	× 2	<u>× 8</u>	<u>× 2</u>	<u>× 12</u>	<u>× 12</u>	× 6	<u>× 4</u>
10	6	8	4	7	7	7	3
× 9	× 9	× 10	<u>× 5</u>	×6	×3	<u>× 11</u>	×9
5	11	10	7	3	6	3	5
<u>× 3</u>	<u>× 6</u>	× 3	×2	×3	×4	× 4	×3
4	2	4	4	1	8	12	7
<u>× 2</u>	× 7	<u>×7</u>	<u>× 7</u>	<u>× 4</u>	×3	× 9	<u>×6</u>
4	5	5	2	3	12	4	9
<u>× 1</u>	<u>× 1</u>	×6	<u>×5</u>	<u>× 8</u>	<u>× 4</u>	<u>× 11</u>	×3
12	2	6	12	12	11	6	1
× 7	<u>× 12</u>	<u>× 8</u>	× 5	× 9	<u>× 12</u>	×9	<u>× 12</u>
9	4	5	1	2	4	12	9
<u>× 8</u>	<u>× 10</u>	×7	<u>× 3</u>	× 9	× 8	<u>× 6</u>	<u>× 1</u>

Work Wor	scheef) ks.com	ľ	Math H A	Facts: NSW	Multi <mark>E R</mark>	plicat K E Y	ion
2 × 11 22	10 × 1 /0	$\frac{10}{\times 3}{30}$	12 × 7 84	$\frac{10}{\times 6}{60}$	1 × 10 / 0	$\frac{12}{\times 6}$ 72	$\frac{3}{\times 1}{3}$
11 × 4 44	$\frac{1}{\times 6}$	$\frac{2}{\times 4}{8}$	8 × 10 80	12 <u>× 11</u> /32	6 <u>× 8</u> 48	$\frac{11}{\times 3}$ 33	11 × 1 //
5 × 6 30	5 × 9 45	10 × 8 80	$\frac{10}{\times 5}{50}$	$\frac{2}{\times 3}{6}$	12 × 3 36	$\frac{6}{\times 3}$	8 <u>× 12</u> 96
$\frac{4}{\times 3}$	6 ×2 /2	11 × 8 88	$\frac{10}{\times 2}{20}$	6 <u>× 12</u> 72	1 <u>× 12</u> /2	9 <u>× 6</u> 54	$\frac{8}{\times 4}$ 32
10 × 9 70	6 <u>× 9</u> 54	8 × 10 80	$\frac{4}{\times 5}$	7 <u>×6</u> <u>42</u>	7 ×3 21	7 <u>× 11</u> 77	3 × 9 27
$\frac{5}{\times 3}$	× 6 66	$\frac{10}{\times 3}{30}$	$\frac{7}{\times 2}$	$\frac{3}{\times 3}{9}$	6 <u>× 4</u> 24	$\frac{3}{\times 4}$	5 × 3 / 5
4 ×2 8	2 ×7 /4	4 ×7 28	4 × 7 28	$\frac{1}{\frac{\times 4}{4}}$	8 <u>× 3</u> 24	12 × 9 /08	$\frac{7}{\times 6}$
$\frac{4}{\times 1}$	$\frac{5}{\times 1}{5}$	5 <u>× 6</u> <u>30</u>	$\frac{2}{\times 5}$	3 × 8 24	12 × 4 48	4 <u>× 11</u> 44	9 <u>× 3</u> 27
12 × 7 84	2 × 12 24	6 <u>× 8</u> <u>48</u>	$\frac{\overset{12}{\times}\overset{5}{5}}{60}$	12 × 9 /08	11 <u>× 12</u> /32	6 <u>× 9</u> 54	1 <u>× 12</u> /2
9 <u>× 8</u> 72	4 × 10 40	$\frac{5}{\times 7}$ 35	$\frac{1}{\times 3}$	2 ×9 /8	4 × 8 32	12 × 6 72	9 <u>× 1</u> 9

Appendix D. Positest

Worl Wor	ssheef) ks.com	Name:	lath	Facts:	Multi	plicat	ion
9	7	4	11	9	3	3	11
× 7	×9	<u>× 1</u>	<u>× 3</u>	×4	×2	<u>× 1</u>	<u>× 8</u>
1	6	9	11	9	11	12	10
<u>×9</u>	× 5	×8	<u>× 6</u>	<u>× 1</u>	<u>× 12</u>	<u>× 7</u>	<u>× 11</u>
2	2	5	3	10	9	10	6
<u>× 11</u>	<u>× 1</u>	× 8	<u>× 12</u>	<u>× 6</u>	×2	<u>× 2</u>	× 7
4	6	1	4	3	5	4	9
× 6	× 4	<u>×1</u>	× 4	<u>× 12</u>	× 4	<u>× 12</u>	<u>× 11</u>
6	12	10	1	10	9	1	10
<u>×2</u>	<u>× 8</u>	<u>× 6</u>	<u>× 4</u>	× 9	×2	<u>× 8</u>	<u>× 11</u>
9	2	5	11	5	8	5	1
<u>× 12</u>	<u>× 11</u>	×6	<u>× 3</u>	<u>× 11</u>	<u>×7</u>	<u>× 10</u>	<u>× 5</u>
6	9	1	2	1	12	6	6
<u>× 12</u>	<u>× 6</u>	<u>×2</u>	× 8	<u>×6</u>	× 9	× 3	<u>× 10</u>
12	3	3	2	7	3	8	12
<u>× 4</u>	×8	<u>×5</u>	<u>× 8</u>	<u>× 12</u>	<u>×4</u>	<u>× 12</u>	<u>× 10</u>
2	12	5	9	8	1	11	10
× 5	<u>× 6</u>	×3	× 5	× 10	<u>×2</u>	<u>× 10</u>	<u>× 3</u>
8	2	6	4	10	7	12	8
× 5	×6	× 9	<u>× 11</u>	<u>× 7</u>	<u>× 8</u>	<u>× 11</u>	× 6

Work	ssheef) ks.com	N	lath H A	Facts: NSW	Multi E R	iplicat <mark>K E Y</mark>	ion
$\frac{9}{\times 7}$	7 <u>× 9</u> 63	$\frac{4}{\times 1}$	$\frac{11}{\times 3}$	$\frac{9}{\times 4}$ 36	3 ×2 6	$\frac{3}{\times 1}{3}$	<u>+ 11</u> × 8 88
1 ×9 9	6 <u>× 5</u> 30	9 <u>× 8</u> 72	11 <u>× 6</u> 66	9 <u>× 1</u> 9	11 <u>× 12</u> /32	12 × 7 84	10 <u>× 11</u> //0
2 <u>× 11</u> 22	$\frac{2}{\times 1}$	5 <u>× 8</u> 40	3 <u>× 12</u> 36	10 <u>× 6</u> 60	9 <u>×2</u> /8	10 × 2 20	6 <u>× 7</u> 42
4 × 6 24	6 <u>× 4</u> 24	$\frac{1}{\frac{\times 1}{/}}$	$\frac{4}{\times 4}$	3 <u>× 12</u> 36	5 <u>× 4</u> 20	4 × 12 48	9 <u>× 11</u> <i>99</i>
$\frac{6}{\times 2}$	12 × 8 96	10 <u>× 6</u> <u>60</u>	$\frac{1}{\frac{\times 4}{4}}$	10 × 9 70	9 <u>×2</u> /8	1 ×8 8	10 <u>× 11</u> //0
9 <u>× 12</u> /08	2 <u>× 11</u> 22	5 <u>×6</u> <u>30</u>	$\frac{11}{\times 3}$	5 <u>× 11</u> 55	8 <u>× 7</u> 56	5 × 10 50	$\frac{1}{\times 5}{5}$
6 <u>× 12</u> 72	9 <u>× 6</u> 54	$\frac{1}{\frac{\times 2}{2}}$	2 × 8 /6	$\frac{1}{\times 6}{6}$	12 × 9 /08	$\frac{6}{\times 3}$	6 <u>× 10</u> 60
$\frac{12}{\times 4}{48}$	3 <u>× 8</u> 24	$\frac{3}{\times 5}$	$\frac{2}{\times 8}$	7 <u>× 12</u> 84	$\frac{3}{\times 4}$	8 <u>× 12</u> 96	12 <u>× 10</u> /20
$\frac{2}{\times 5}$	12 × 6 72	5 <u>×3</u> /5	9 <u>× 5</u> 45	8 × 10 80	$\frac{1}{\times 2}$	11 <u>× 10</u> //0	10 × 3 30
8 ×5 40	2 ×6 /2	6 ×9 54	4 <u>× 11</u> 44	10 × 7 70	7 <u>× 8</u> 56	12 <u>× 11</u> /32	8 × 6 48

Appendix E: Letter of Cooperation

Letter of Cooperation from a Community Research Partner



Dear Joseph Bochniak,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled, "The Effectiveness of Computer Intervention on Student Math Fact Fluency" within Uptown Complex School. As part of this study, I authorize you to recruit sixth grade students, collect and analyze data, utilize FASTT MATH instructional software, and disseminate the findings. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include: providing the location, the teaching staff, participation pool, and a flexible instructional schedule for the duration of this study. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincefely Laket Ms Principal

Appendix F: Data Use Agreement

DATA USE AGREEMENT

This Data Use Agreement ("Agreement"), effective as of December 2, 2013 ("Effective Date"), is entered into by and between Joseph Bochniak ("Data Recipient") and Uptown School Complex ("Data Provider"). The purpose of this Agreement is to provide Data Recipient with access to a Limited Data Set ("LDS") for use in research in accord with the HIPAA and FERPA Regulations.

- <u>Definitions.</u> Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, all capitalized terms used in this Agreement not otherwise defined have the meaning established for purposes of the "HIPAA Regulations" codified at Title 45 parts 160 through 164 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations, as amended from time to time.
- 2. <u>Preparation of the LDS.</u> Data Provider shall prepare and furnish to Data Recipient a LDS in accord with any applicable HIPAA or FERPA Regulations
- <u>Data Fields in the LDS.</u> No direct identifiers such as names may be included in the Limited Data Set (LDS). In preparing the LDS, Data Provider shall include the data fields specified as follows, which are the minimum necessary to accomplish the research (list all data to be provided): pretest and posttest results of twominute drills.
- 4. Responsibilities of Data Recipient. Data Recipient agrees to:
 - a. Use or disclose the LDS only as permitted by this Agreement or as required by law;
 - Use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of the LDS other than as permitted by this Agreement or required by law;
 - Report to Data Provider any use or disclosure of the LDS of which it becomes aware that is not permitted by this Agreement or required by law;
 - d. Require any of its subcontractors or agents that receive or have access to the LDS to agree to the same restrictions and conditions on the use and/or disclosure of the LDS that apply to Data Recipient under this Agreement; and
 - Not use the information in the LDS to identify or contact the individuals who are data subjects.
- <u>Permitted Uses and Disclosures of the LDS.</u> Data Recipient may use and/or disclose the LDS for its Research activities only.

6. Term and Termination.

- a. <u>Term.</u> The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the Effective Date and shall continue for so long as Data Recipient retains the LDS, unless sooner terminated as set forth in this Agreement.
- b. <u>Termination by Data Recipient.</u> Data Recipient may terminate this agreement at any time by notifying the Data Provider and returning or destroying the LDS.
- c. <u>Termination by Data Provider</u>. Data Provider may terminate this agreement at any time by providing thirty (30) days prior written notice to Data Recipient.
- d. <u>For Breach.</u> Data Provider shall provide written notice to Data Recipient within ten (10) days of any determination that Data Recipient has breached a material term of this Agreement. Data Provider shall afford Data Recipient an opportunity to cure said alleged material breach upon mutually agreeable terms. Failure to agree on mutually agreeable terms for cure within thirty (30) days shall be grounds for the immediate termination of this Agreement by Data Provider.
- e. <u>Effect of Termination</u>. Sections 1, 4, 5, 6(e) and 7 of this Agreement shall survive any termination of this Agreement under subsections c or d.

7. Miscellaneous.

- a. <u>Change in Law.</u> The parties agree to negotiate in good faith to amend this Agreement to comport with changes in federal law that materially alter either or both parties' obligations under this Agreement. Provided however, that if the parties are unable to agree to mutually acceptable amendment(s) by the compliance date of the change in applicable law or regulations, either Party may terminate this Agreement as provided in section 6.
- b. <u>Construction of Terms.</u> The terms of this Agreement shall be construed to give effect to applicable federal interpretative guidance regarding the HIPAA Regulations.
- c. <u>No Third Party Beneficiaries.</u> Nothing in this Agreement shall confer upon any person other than the parties and their respective successors or assigns, any rights, remedies, obligations, or liabilities whatsoever.
- d. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

e. <u>Headings.</u> The headings and other captions in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only and shall not be used in interpreting, construing or enforcing any of the provisions of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its name and on its behalf.

DATA PROVIDER Signed: Print Name: Lakecia Hyman

DATA RECIPIENT

Signed

Print Name: Joseph Bochniak

Print Title: Principal

Print Title: Technology Coordinator
Curriculum Vitae

Joseph Bochniak

Educa	tion	
	Walden University, Minneapolis, Minnesota Ed. D in Education, Concentration: Teacher Leadership	2014
Disse	ertation: "The Effectiveness of Computer-Aided Instruction on N	Math Fact Fluency"
	Walden University, Minneapolis, Minnesota M. Ed in Education Concentration: Technology Integration	2009
	Richard Stockton College, Pomona, New Jersey Bachelor's Degree, Bachelor of Arts in Liberal Arts Concentration: Education	1995
	Richard Stockton College, Pomona, New Jersey Bachelor's Degree, Bachelor of Arts in History Concentration: History	1993
	New Jersey Teaching Certificate Elementary K-12 & Social Studies 7-12	1995
Teach	ing Experience	
	XYZ Public Schools, Atlantic City New Jersey	1997-Present
	Technology Coordinator XYZ School	2008-Present
	Social Studies Teacher XYZ School XYZ School	1997-2008

Committees & Organizations

School Leadership & PD Committees Technology Club Advisor XYZ School	2008-Present 2005-2010
Social Studies Curriculum Taskforce XYZ Public Schools	2005-2007, 2011
XYZ Educational Association (ACEA) Board Member Senior-Vice President	1999-2012 2006-2012